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Thursday, September 27, 2007


--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 19:40 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. back on August 25th of last year with respect to section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act requesting a rate increase effective January 1st, 2007, and, in particular, with respect to a procedural order we issued on August 29th that relates to certain matters with respect to the regulatory cost allocation methodology, which arose in the main rate case.


We understand that the applicant has filed a settlement proposal which purports, at least in part, to settle this matter, and today we will deal with that settlement proposal, as well as any outstanding unsettled matters.


May I have the appearances, please?

Appearances


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  On my left I have Mr. Robert Burke and on my right I have Mr. Robert Cappadocia, who was involved in the RCAM consultative.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince DeRose, IGUA.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeRose.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Julie would like me to go next.  David MacIntosh, Energy Probe Research Foundation.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Girvan.  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC, and I have with me -- or, sorry.  Yes, counsel for VECC, and I have Roger Higgin, consultant for VECC, and he was one of the lead intervenor participants in the RCAM consultative.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff, Mr. Chair.  With me is Khalil Viraney.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, before I turn to the supplementary settlement proposal, which has been marked as Exhibit N1, tab 4, schedule -- I thought -- we have a brief which we will use in evidence today, and my friend, Mr. DeRose, has provided me with a copy of materials they intend to use.  I thought we could mark them as an exhibit, simply as a housekeeping matter.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.


MR. O'LEARY:  You should have copies at your dais.


MR. KAISER:  I have a document brief of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I guess that is the first one.


MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that -- Mr. Chair, this is actually, pardon me, day 17 of this hearing, so we will mark it K17.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K17.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC.


MR. MILLAR:  I have the IGUA book here, which I will bring up to you, and we will call that K17.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K17.2:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF INDUSTRIAL GAS USERS ASSOCIATION.


MR. KAISER:  What is this Meyers Norris Penny LLP document about?  Is that an exhibit?


MR. O'LEARY:  You may have a copy of the curriculum vitae and portions of their response.  It should be under tab 5 of Exhibit K17.1.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. O'LEARY:  I am assuming that is the document you're referring to, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Chair, while we are marking documents, I submitted a few pages of resumes for our witnesses, who will be heard after the Enbridge witnesses, but we might as well mark them now, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have that, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  These will be the curriculum -- curricula vitae -- whatever the Latin plural is -- from VECC. 


MR. KAISER:  Curriculae.









MR. MILLAR:  Is that right?  K17.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K17.3:  CURRICULAE VITARUM OF VECC WITNESSES.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other documents people would like to enter now?  We can always do it later as things come up.

Submissions by Mr. O'Leary


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if I could ask you to turn to the supplementary settlement proposal.  Before I walk you through that, I thought I should identify that it is slightly different than the version that was forwarded a number of weeks ago. 


Obviously the date on the first page has been changed, but the only other change to the document is with the generation of some additional evidence, which will be referred to today.  That has also been identified under the evidentiary portion of the settlement agreement.  Otherwise, it is identical with what was filed with the Board a number of weeks ago.


It is an incomplete settlement, but that is a bit of an understatement as to what has occurred through a great deal of time and effort on the part of all of the parties working cooperatively through the RCAM consultative.


And, as you may know, Mr. Chair, the issue of corporate cost allocations has been one which has been hanging around for several years, if I could put it that way.  I am pleased to indicate that there is a complete settlement, with the exception of two fairly narrow issues and they relate to specific items identified in the RCAM service schedules.


I could walk you through the settlement.  There are some conditions which are attached which effectively require the company to give notice to intervenors, pursuant to the continuation of the consultative, where certain numeric thresholds have been exceeded.  And those thresholds are articulated on page 2 of the settlement agreement.  


The key, from the company's perspective, is that we do have a settlement in respect of the issue, which is 3.6:  Do the revisions to the regulatory cost allocation methodology meet the Board's directives in the 2006 decision?


You may recall from last year's decision, the Board directed the company to undertake a number of steps to modify and improve the RCAM, and that long and arduous process, if I could put it that way, has been followed and has been complied with, and the intervenors have been involved in the modifications; and, thus, you will see on the first page that all parties accept and agree that the directives have been met.


Then it is followed by the requirement that the company provide notice in the circumstances set out, which would include where there has been a discontinuance of a service or the introduction of a new service, or where the company undertakes and implements some of the recommendations made by the independent evaluator, Myers Norris Penny.  


You will recall, sir, from last year's decision that one of the directives was the company engage an entity to undertake an independent evaluation of the RCAM and to engage the intervenors as part of that process, and that has happened and we have agreement amongst all of the parties that that directive has been met.


Indeed, we have with us today on the panel from MNP, Meyers Norris Penny, the principal partner, Mr. Robert Baldauf, who is closest to myself, and he was the lead on behalf of MNP, who are the independent evaluators.


I acknowledge it is somewhat unique having an independent evaluator as part of this panel, but in the interests of efficiency, we thought we would include them on this panel.  But Mr. Baldauf is here as the independent evaluator, not as a witness for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


The two outstanding issues relate to a specific service, and even in that context, it is not the entire service which is at issue.  The first is the capital market financing and access service, and that involves, amongst other things, the company's activities - when I say "the company's", in this case Enbridge Inc., the parent, because this is corporate cost allocations, of course - their activities raising debt and equity capital.


There is no issue in respect of the corporate cost allocations in respect of debt.  The only issue that intervenors are raising here is whether or not there is an appropriate inclusion of the costs associated with EI raising equity capital.


The second issue that is outstanding, which the parties are looking for your assistance, is in respect of stock-based compensation.  The question simply is whether those stock options -- there are other long-term incentives which are not in issue, which are the performance stock units and restricted units -- the only issue relates to stock options that are granted to Enbridge senior management and senior executives, and whether or not they should be recoverable in rates.


Those are the two issues that will be going forth today.  I am certainly pleased to respond to any questions you have about the settlement proposal, if I haven't covered something adequately in my description.


MR. KAISER:  How does the independent evaluator get his instructions?


MR. O'LEARY:  As part of the consultative.  My understanding -- and certainly I would be delighted if you would respond to this, Mr. Baldauf -- but ultimately the selection of the independent evaluator was done as a matter of consensus between the company and the intervenors, and in fact, the intervenors retained a consultant, Rosen & Associates.  In fact, the two representatives of Rosen & Associates I believe will be appearing on behalf of the intervenors today. 


There was a consensus that was reached in terms of the selection of MNP, and for the reasons that you will hear further detail about, they were selected in part because they have no conflicts and have not been involved on behalf of Enbridge in the past, and it was felt that they truly would be independent.


In terms of the instructions, they received comments from, obviously, Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc.  That was part of their process, was to make enquiries as to the services being provided and the services being received.


They undertook an intensive, I could call it investigative, process; but they interviewed the service providers and the service recipients.  They made enquiries as to the reasonableness of the amounts, and all along the way they kept intervenors informed and received comments from intervenors.


They would then consider the comments and the information they received from all of the sources and all of the parties and, to my understanding, they considered each in the same light; and if they considered it appropriate, they would adopt it and it would be included in their report.


So I would venture to say there was no one providing instructions to them.  They were an independent evaluator that ultimately knew that they would have to speak to the independence of their study here today.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Baldauf, I don't know if you -- 


MR. BALDAUF:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, none of the witnesses have been sworn, so maybe that might be the next logical step.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Why don't we do that?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Hoey has already testified earlier, so he is under oath.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1

Jane Haberbusch; Sworn

Narin Kishinchandani; Sworn

Robert Baldauf; Sworn

Patrick Hoey; Previously Sworn


MR. KAISER:  While they're doing that, Mr. O'Leary, explain to me again:  What was the role of Rosen & Associates?


MR. O'LEARY:  My friends will describe it in greater detail, but at the beginning of the process, my understanding is the intervenors thought it would be appropriate to have someone that had accounting expertise, to provide them with advice and to assist them in their dealings with MNP. 


So intervenors retained Rosen & Associates as a consultant to the intervenors to assist in their engagement as part of the consultative and review of MNP's evaluation process.


MR. KAISER:  But they didn't review or have anything to do with the independent evaluator?


MR. O'LEARY:  There is no connection between the two, but they did absolutely have a lot of communications with the independent evaluator, and the independent evaluator spent time directly with Rosen & Associates on occasions without the presence of Enbridge Gas Distribution or Enbridge Inc.


So the intent was, as we understood the directive, that the evaluator would fully engage and involve the intervenors, which we submit has occurred.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir, you were going to add something?


MR. BALDAUF:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just to give you a little bit of additional background, Enbridge Gas Distribution, following the directive, issued a proposal last July, and the objective of the -- or issued an RFP, and the scope and directive of the RFP was to retain an independent evaluator to assess the appropriateness of the corporate service charges, calculated by an amended RCAM that includes the refinements identified by the OEB in its decision with reasons, to be recovered from ratepayers in association with the corporate services ISA between EGD and EI. 


There are two parts of the proposal that I think were particularly important here, in terms of the evaluation that would be conducted by the EGD and the intervenors.


The stage one consisted of a review to determine which proposals complied with all of the mandatory submission requirements which were set in the RFP.  Proposals that did not comply with all of the mandatory submission requirements were disqualified.  And stage two consisted of a scoring by EGD and the intervenors of each qualified proposal. 


We responded to that RFP on July 31st, 2006, went through a series of discussions, pre-proposal or pre-bid discussions with EGD and the intervenors, and then submitted our proposal, I believe it was the 25th of August, and were notified of our selection on the 20th of September.


The intervenors were involved in the selection of our firm throughout the RFP process.  They participated in the creation of the RFP, and participated in the short-list bid selection and then, I think, did not provide any objectives to -- or objections to us being named as the independent evaluator.  So that was sort of the process that went through last year. 


To answer your question to Mr. O'Leary, the project was governed by what we call a project charter, to establish scope, deliverables, timelines, content, what was going to be involved in the consultative and what wasn't going to be involved in the consultative.


The intervenors participated in the creation of that and then participated -- as Mr. O'Leary stated -- throughout the consultative, the workshops, the discussions, review of the material, participation in the creation of the final report, and then also through a series of the process following the final report then, which was the technical conference last May.


MR. KAISER:  So the scope of your review, if I can call it that, was set out on a consent basis by all parties?


MR. BALDAUF:  It was established first in the RFP and then -- which was agreed to between the parties -- we reviewed that, and then through the development of the project charter, which also took four drafts to get to the final -- you know, just narrowing down exactly what we were going to do, was defined by that, but was also governed by the original directive from the Board last -- earlier last year.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Go ahead.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I don't know if any of my friends had any comments about the settlement agreement.  Otherwise, we would put forward a request that the Board approve it, and then we would be able to proceed with the two outstanding issues.


MR. KAISER:  Any comments from any of the intervenors with respect to the settlement agreement?

Submissions by Mr. DeRose


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair, just one point I would like to make on behalf of IGUA.


IGUA and VECC were the two active participants in the consultative.  The other parties that are here today were fully informed and they were engaged in the process, but not on a day-to-day basis.


In our submission, in the traditional settlement conference that would take place over a day or week of all of the issues, this settlement would not have emanated from that.


This, much like the customer care settlement that you have previously approved and the open bill, is, in our view, a reflection of the success of the consultatives, when you have very technical issues that require quite a bit of time to work through.


So in our submission, we just want to put that on the record, that this is something that took a lot of time and we had expert advice from Rosen & Associates, who will testify, I anticipate, this afternoon.  


So in our submission, this is an appropriate settlement, but it is also a reflection of the success of the consultatives that Enbridge has brought forward in this particular rate case.


MR. KAISER:  Just as a matter of interest, how many days would have been involved in this exercise?


MR. DeROSE:  Um --


MR. KAISER:  Or hours?


MR. DeROSE:  I don't even want to guess the hours.  I would -- 


MR. KAISER:  Well, what has it cost?  I know that is an unseemly question, but just as a matter of interest.  I appreciate that it has been a productive process, but what is the bill?


MR. DeROSE:  I'm not sure what the bill is.  Enbridge may have the total numbers.  If I were to guess on a day basis, I would say probably, when you add up all of the hours and if you put seven-and-a-half hours a day, you would probably be looking at, for the intervenors -- this is a guess -- 20 to 25 days, maybe more.  But that is over probably a six- to eight-month period.  That doesn't include just the meetings.  I think that would include reviewing all of the documents and instructing the experts, et cetera.


MR. KAISER:  I guess at some point we will know the cost, will we?


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm not certain, sir, whether or not we have received all of the cost requests from intervenors, so I don't know --


MR. KAISER:  Is this going to be subject to a separate application for costs, this process, or is it buried somewhere?


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Chair, are you -- I think there is two things.  Are you talking about the consultative costs?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which I think were paid out on an ongoing basis?  So Enbridge would know how much they have, presumably --


MR. KAISER:  Well, you are one of the main participants.  Is 25 days an accurate estimate?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I personally was not a main participant.  I am advised that that is an appropriate guesstimate.


MR. KAISER:  You will be applying for costs, your client will, I assume, or not?


MR. BUONAGURO:  For the consultative?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think those costs were paid out on an ongoing basis.  So the consultative won't appear -- I understand that there's a --


MR. KAISER:  Do we approve the costs, or is this Enbridge...


MR. O'LEARY:  My understanding is, from Mr. Burke, that those costs would be included as part of the phase 1 or 2007 rate case costs.


MR. KAISER:  Which presumably haven't been settled yet?


MR. O'LEARY:  I am not certain.  They have.  Apparently they have been settled to the extent of $825,000, but that is for all of the entire --


MR. KAISER:  Of the $825,000, what is this costing the good people of Ontario, this consultative, this 25-day exercise?


MR. O'LEARY:  We can't advise you.  Obviously, it would be only a portion of that.


MR. KAISER:  Well, maybe you can look at it over the break.


MR. O'LEARY:  If we can come back with something, sir, I will.  We may have to go further than...


MR. KAISER:  So is $825,000 the total cost of this rate case?


MR. O'LEARY:  I am advised that that is the amount that the Board approved fairly recently and that was the amount -- the cost of the proceeding to that point.  So it would not include today, for example.


MR. KAISER:  It wouldn't include your costs?


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry.  That is just the intervenor costs, sir, you're correct.  


If I could add, sir, I mean corporate cost allocation methodology has been an issue that has come up in each of the last, I believe, three or four proceedings and has taken up a good deal of time.


We now have a settlement which -- we're going into incentive regulation, which provides for methodology which is going to be there for a number of years.  So it might be inappropriate to look at it as simply an isolated event here.  This is one that we have put to bed, if I can put it that way, an important issue that -- I would submit intervenors now have confidence in the methodology, and we would request the Board does in future, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Well, on that point, how long is it put to bed for?  Is that defined in the agreement?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is going forward -- it's going to be used going forward as part of the incentive regulation process, which is a five-year process.  My understanding is that we would not be looking at any changes to this until we come back for rebasing in 2012, or whatever.


Plus, Mr. Burke reminds me that the settlement agreement does indicate that there are mechanisms in the proposal for us to keep intervenors aware of what is happening, if there are any increases above the threshold, if there are any new services, and that is -- these are the requirements that provide intervenors with the confidence to go forward over the IR period.


MR. KAISER:  So these triggers that lead to notification and lead to additional evidence, or information provided to the intervenors, let's suppose the triggers are exercised or happen, or whatever the right term is.


What's the engagement of the Board at that point?  Is it just a mechanistic result, or does the Board have to get involved in this again?


MR. O'LEARY:  No.  It does not anticipate the Board becoming involved.  The agreement contemplates that the consultative will continue and that it is an informational process, because under the IR model that has been put forward you have the base amount of 18.1 million, which was agreed to as part of issue 3.6 in this proceeding.  That is included in the IR model and it will be subject to adjustment pursuant to whatever the Board's determination is the appropriate methodology in that proceeding.


But it is not anticipated that there would be any need to come back to the Board for any reconsideration of aspects of the RCAM methodology.


MR. KAISER:  So even if the triggers -- the thresholds are exceeded and something is triggered, you're telling us it won't affect rates going forward?


MR. O'LEARY:  What happens, in terms of the RCAM, should not affect the methodology that ultimately the Board determines is appropriate to set rates in future.


MR. KAISER:  So if that is the case, what is the point of all of these triggers and the cost of engagement of a consultative if it can't affect rates, anyway, because we're going into IR?  Is it just a make-work project for you and the intervenors?  What's the point?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, we often have concerns that that might be the source of a request.  I don't think that is necessarily fair in this instance.


As I understand it - and perhaps may friends may want to speak to it - one of the reasons why these notice requirements of the thresholds are there, the thresholds are intended to avoid the make-work projects, so that if it is just a minor increase, that you wouldn't have to go to the work of notifying intervenors of it, but if it is something material, then they would be put on notice.  


Their fear is that in 2013, when there is a rebasing, if the RCAM at that point is a significantly larger amount than the 18.1 million, they would have been caught off guard and not have been aware of what is transpiring to that point.


So it is an agreement on part of the company to keep intervenors engaged in terms of what is happening, so that they would be able to address it when this comes back again in around 2012.


MR. KAISER:  They will be prepared if Mr. Buonaguro and you are still around in 2013; is that it?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  I hope to be around still then, sir.


DR. HIGGIN:  I may not be.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, you had something on this?

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  Similar to what Mr. O'Leary was just saying.


The amount -- it is true the amount is settled for 2007, $18.1 million.  The amount they recover for RCAM, this rate case --


MR. KAISER:  It is settled to 2013; is that right?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, but between now and 2013, every year, my understanding is that Enbridge will run an RCAM analysis and that will be the -- form the basis by which EGD pays EI every year.


So even though they're recovering in rates a certain amount under the IR, whether it is 18.1 or depending on what happens in the gas IR -- I assume it will be close to 18.1.  It also I guess depends on what happens in the two remaining issues in this hearing.


To the extent that they run the analysis and it changes, the amount that they actually pay every year will change.  So it is certainly important to EGD that the analysis is, I guess, approved by the Board.


From an intervenor perspective, when we come back 

in -- assuming that the gas IR mechanism turns out a five-year plan and there is a -- five years down the road they have rebasing, the rebasing year will include presumably an RCAM analysis for a new base year.  The concern is that if they go five years without any viewing, the intervenors, the numbers could change wildly, the service schedules could change wildly; and we will have to reconstruct the history of the last five years from scratch as part of the base year, in terms of determining whether or not what happens in five years is a reasonable escalation of the RCAM amounts over the course of five years.


By reporting every year to intervenors, who have an interest in the subject, on material changes from what their base year is now, we'll be able to engage the company on a year-over-year basis as to what is happening in terms of their RCAM allocations.  And when they hit the threshold on a particular item, we can ask them the question, Why is it that service schedule A is doubled?  Why has service schedule B been eliminated?


MR. KAISER:  You're not going to ask them that question in any hearing.  You're just going to have --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, that's part of the consultative aspect.  Now, it won't affect rates in those years.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But it sets up the base year, so that, for lack of a better term, it puts the company on its toes in terms of what it is doing, because we will have been engaged with them in terms of what EGD is paying to EI over the next five years and why they're doing it.


It builds -- hopefully, it will build an appropriate regulatory history coming into the base year for RCAM.  So that when we're faced with a new set of service schedules in 2013, it isn't a complete surprise what they look like.  We will have an understanding of how they arrived at those numbers, and hopefully it won't be a phase 2 of the rebasing year in 2013.


MR. KAISER:  But if Mr. O'Leary doesn't give you the answers you want, you're not going to come back to the Board?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I guess theoretically speaking, if they don't comply with the terms of the --


Right.  I am reminded that, in terms of the payments between EGD and EI, it is governed by the Affiliate Relationship Code.  And the presumption is that, if there is a complaint about what amounts they're paying between the two, between the utility and the parent company within the five years, you would make a complaint under the ARC.  But if there is no information coming out about what payments are being made, there is no basis for complaint. 


So in theory, if there is a complaint -- for example, let's say Enbridge creates an entirely new service schedule as part of their RCAM, and it is for something that, under this settlement, they would have -- they would report that to the intervenors, we would be able to ask questions about it.  If we thought strongly that it was an inappropriate payment between EGD and EI, regardless of rate implications, we could in theory make an application under ARC to complain about it. 


In terms of coming back to the Board, that is at least a possibility.  Hopefully, this process makes that an improbability, because in terms of creating and in terms of evaluating -- in terms of EGD creating that service schedule and allocating amounts between EI and EGD, they will have as a result of this proceeding, and as a result of the settlement proposal, an approved methodology for creating those amounts.


So a basis for making that, creating that service schedule in the first place, and for allocating that amount in the first place.  


So the whole point is it try to avoid having to come back to the Board on a year-over-year basis on anything, and make sure that when we come back for rate purposes in 2013 or whenever gas IR proceeding determines that we're going to come back, there will be no surprises and there will be an adequate regulatory history, in terms of showing what has happened in the intervening five years to arrive at whatever their base-year application is for RCAM in 2013.


MR. KAISER:  Let me explain.  The only reason I ask these questions is I want to make sure that whatever we do today, accepting this proposal, which has a long-term aspect to it, doesn't have to be considered by the gas IRM panel. 


From what I hear from both counsel, it's independent.  Whatever you do in the coffee shop isn't going to affect the gas IRM.  If gas IRM ends up being three years instead of five years, so what?  Instead of 2013, it will be two years earlier.  And at that point you go through rebasing, and the only time all of this will resurface before a Board panel would be at the time of rebasing.  Am I right?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is fair, because -- 


MR. KAISER:  Because it is important.  Because otherwise, if it is going to affect the gas IRM in any continuing, substantive basis, it needs to be dealt with there.  But if we can conclude it is totally independent of whatever regime they come up with, which sounds to be the case, outside of affecting rebasing -- which there will be rebasing at some point in whatever gas IRM plan is approved by this Board -- then this matter resurrects itself; but not until then.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is fair.


My understanding is that for rate purposes, the gas IR proceeding will determine how much Enbridge can recover from ratepayers in order to fund its cost of service.


In terms of how much Enbridge pays to EI, under RCAM may change year over year, independently of the rate changes that are considered in the IR.  So in that case, they are independent, as you suspect.


MR. KAISER:  So we have had a situation -- in fact, I think it involved Enbridge -- where outsourcing and such things caused problems in IRM schemes in the past.  And payments to parent companies can fall within that type of ambit.  


But I take it once the parties agree to the methodology that is described here, that dispute is put to bed for the term of the IRM?


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair, perhaps I could jump in.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Just because IGUA has some slightly different nuances than what Mr. Buonaguro has said. 


To answer a few of your questions, first of all, in terms of:  does this have an impact on the IRM decision?  I don't believe this settlement proposal before you today does.


I think most parties have assumed that what Enbridge's 2007 approved rates are, would become the rate base.  If that assumption turns out to be correct in the IRM decision, then the RCAM amount would be 18.1, inflated for whatever period of time the IRM is.


To date, I have not seen -- my understanding is that Enbridge is not seeking to change the rate base.  I think that is possibly a live issue.  I don't know what the panel in the IRM decision will be, but that is not affected by this particular settlement proposal.


So I don't think this settlement proposal affects the IRM decision.


In terms of the mechanism, I think it is more than simply having coffee with one another, and I say it for this reason.  When the triggering -- if a triggering event occurs, notice will be given to intervenors, and that does not automatically engage the Board.  In fact, it doesn't engage the Board.


It then leads to a process whereby intervenors will be given information in a transparent manner.  That benefits both intervenors and EGD, because it provides -- that transparency provides ratepayers with an opportunity to raise their concerns with EGD in a timely fashion, and you talk about the outsourcing during previous IR programs.  I think in retrospect, certainly from IGUA's perspective, those concerns, had they been dealt with when the outsourcing was actually occurring rather than two or three or four years later, we can only guess what would have happened, but it wouldn't have hurt.  It may have helped.


So from ratepayers' perspective, if something happens that causes serious grief or heartburn to ratepayers, we can raise our concerns with EGD.  


There is a benefit, I would submit, to EGD on that as well, in that if they change the way in which they are paying EI for certain services, and they don't anticipate that ratepayers would have an adverse reaction to it, I would submit they are better off to know it in the year that they do it in the IR, rather than at the end of the IR program.


Now, you asked whether this takes -- this is my wording -- but whether this necessarily means that the Board will not have to deal with this during the IR program.  I don't think it is completely accurate to say that this issue cannot come up during the IR program.


There are scenarios, and the proposal explicitly says -- and it is on page 4 of 5 – that:

"The parties agree that the supplementary settlement proposal in no way infringes upon any existing or future rights that any party may have under the Act, or in any future proceedings."


That was put in, in part -- no one anticipates the nightmare scenario happening, but -- and let me give you this example:  If, in year two of the IR plan, EGD were to notify ratepayers that the amount for corporate cost allocation has increased from 18.1 million to 150 million 

-- something that no one would anticipate -- depending on the rationale given, that may lead to either intervenors bringing some sort of a motion to reconsider the IRM decision, or a motion saying that this is a breach of the Affiliate Relationships Code, if it is.


We can't anticipate whether that would happen at some point in the future.  We don't anticipate it, but we aren't closing the door to it.


MR. KAISER:  Now you are getting closer to my question.  Forget about an application under the Affiliate Code.


In IRMs, we sometimes have -- and I don't know what is going to result in this ongoing proceeding -- Z factors.  If something happens, all bets are off.  


I just want to make sure that if these thresholds are exceeded, it doesn't become an "all bets are off" proposition.  We're not setting up this IRM panel for a collateral decision here that is -- you almost suggested that a moment ago in your remarks, that we can come back.  It's understood we can come back.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, we --


MR. KAISER:  I thought I had it from Mr. O'Leary that you're not coming back.  This is entirely independent of IRM.


MR. DeROSE:  It is -- in my submission, it would not be a Z factor.  It would not be an automatic off-ramp.  There would be no entitlement to an off-ramp under the incentive regulation mechanism.


MR. KAISER:  So it is just we get some information and we keep our powder dry until 2013 or 2011, or whatever?


MR. DeROSE:  Unless the information itself -- unless we have an independent right under the Act --


MR. KAISER:  You can always bring an application.


MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.  So that is the only thing --


MR. KAISER:  But independent of whatever the Panel decides?


MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, there is no question it is the intent of all parties that this would settle the issue for the duration of the IRM.


Yes, there is the provision that Mr. DeRose pointed to, but as is always the case -- a party is never going to give up absolutely any right to bring forward an application, but they're going to be met with opposition.  The first thing we're going to say is, You agreed to this and we had this discussion today, and then unless there is some extraordinary circumstance that justifies you being here, you shouldn't be here.


So the best we can, we submit the language does tie it up for the course of the IRM.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, do you agree with that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just on this point, I think this is relevant.  On page 3 of the settlement proposal, the last full paragraph, it says:

"The parties agree that the threshold set out above are to be interpreted only as triggering mechanisms in respect of the reporting requirements set out herein and are not necessarily indicative of the parties' views regarding reasonable year-over-year changes in RCAM amounts tabled by EGD."


It is very specific.  The triggering mechanisms are just there to show when they're going to provide information.  They don't create any specific complaint about what they're doing in RCAM.  It is just that's when you have to tell us what you're doing in RCAM and start the dialogue.


MR. KAISER:  You would also agree with Mr. O'Leary that what this agreement purports to do is settle this matter until rebasing; is that right?


MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of what the methodology is?


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think so, yes.


MR. KAISER:  So regardless of your ability to get information as a result of thresholds being exceeded, it is not going to have any material impact on rates, or whatever rate scheme is adopted by the panel in the gas IRM; is that right?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Not as a result of the settlement agreement.  I think you still have the "nightmare scenario" where it may -- if they do something like triple their RCAM amounts, it may trigger something that the gas IR mechanism panel creates.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that would be in that proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Exactly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If they double or triple their RCAM amounts that are here, that might trigger a complaint under the ARC.  That is, again, not created by the settlement agreement.


The methodology -- I mean, they have a methodology that they're putting forward for approval for the Board partly on the basis of the settlement proposal.  If they change the methodology or if they -- I mean, the methodology I think has two components.  There is the methodology, and then there is the application of the methodology.


So if they're not applying it precisely in terms of gathering the information and determining what the amounts are going to be in the RCAM, there might be a complaint there.  But that would only really be worthwhile if there is a rate implication.  Like I said, there is no specific rate implication for the next -- foreseeable future until rebasing.


So I think you don't have -- the concerns that you may be raising are maybe theoretical, but not likely.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Yes, Mr. Quesnelle reminds me, on the -- I take it there will be costs -- given that this consultative is going to continue, I guess, until 2013, sounds like.  How active it will be, we don't know.  How do those costs get recovered, and from who, and when and where?  Mr. Hoey?


MR. HOEY:  It is my expectation that -- in the IRM application we put in a regulatory deferral account.  It would go through as one of our normal operating costs.  We expect the consultative to be, you know, if a day, once a year; that it would be a very limited process.  And, hopefully, if there is no major changes in the model, then there may not be much more than just a report to intervenors, and we will ask them if they want to get together to go through the report.  They may say "no" if there is no major issues.  


I think that was the intent, that the way we structured it was that there would be costs that we would take within our operating budget.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I am prepared to move on to the issues that are outstanding, unless you and 

Mr. Quesnelle wish to deliberate at all in respect of the settlement proposal.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may, I was hoping to ask a clarification question of Mr. O'Leary.  He and I had discussed this before, so I was hoping, just for the clarity of the record, to have something set out.


The report, as you will be aware - I guess it is on page 51 - sets out certain recommendations that it has of the utility.  In a technical conference on May 1st, Board Staff asked Enbridge if it was its intention to follow all of these recommendations, and at that time Enbridge responded that it was still thinking about it; it needed time to determine that.


So I am hoping for an update on that from Mr. O'Leary, and specifically I guess our question would be if it is Enbridge's intention to adopt all of the recommendations of the report and if they can provide us with that answer.


I assume Mr. O'Leary is probably the best person to respond to that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Chair, I had contemplated, and in speaking with Mr. Millar, that that question would be asked.  In fact, I am going to ask Mr. Hoey during our evidence-in-chief to respond to that.  But I do acknowledge that it was asked at the technical conference, and I believe that Board Staff asked Mr. Baldauf at the time about the -- or, actually, Mr. DeRose whether or not the recommendations went to the methodology, the nuts and bolts of it.  Mr. Baldauf responded that they are refinements, but they don't go to the nuts and bolts of the methodology.  


But it would be Mr. Hoey who will respond to that question.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. HOEY:  We have looked at the recommendations and we're still evaluating them.  Really it is a question of:  Are they acceptable, and, on top of being acceptable, can we do them in a cost-effective manner and what is the value of those?


So we're still in that evaluation stage.  At the end, what we're going to do with each recommendation is either we will accept the recommendation -- and I know that some of them we would accept.  Some are of a minor different way to report.


There are other ones where we're going to look at possibly the objective of the recommendation.  Is there an alternative that would be more cost-effective for us to meet that objective of that recommendation and bring that forward?


Thirdly, we just may not accept the recommendation and we will have to have written reasons why.


Our plan right now would be that whatever we do with those recommendations, that would form at least the initial first-year annual report that would go to the intervenors as part of the consultative process.  So they will know exactly what we're doing with those recommendations, and we can provide Board Staff with a copy, too.  We don't have any problem with that, either.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to tell us at this time -- you indicated that some of them you would be implementing.  Are you able to tell us which ones that you will be implementing for certain?


MR. HOEY:  I thought you might ask that.


Some of the recommendations on the business cases, you know, more consistent review and editing, additional details, wording and that kind of stuff, those kinds of things, yes, we're definitely going to go relook at how we put those business cases together, the consistency of -- how the consistency of the service schedules are put together, the descriptions and things like that.


But to give you an example, the one that we're still thinking about is recommending that -- the combining of a number of services together.  And I guess our initial review of that is that the part of the RCAM all was designed to break down services into very discrete units, and now the recommendation is to accumulate them back up.  


We're still struggling.  We don't think that that is consistent with the way, what I will call, the issue has transformed over the last couple of years.  So we're not too sure whether that is what we should be doing and is there another way to get to -- might be what the objective is, to put more departmental costs together, and that.  So we're still looking at that and whether that is doable or not, as to get the detail that it is going to be in behind it.  But creating a whole matrix of solutions to this, we're not sure whether that is of a great additional value.  


So that is what I mean by looking at additional things.


MR. MILLAR:  Just for complete clarity, I guess it is Enbridge's view that certainly you are going to look at all of these recommendations and give a lot of thought to this.  But you're not required to follow all of the recommendations; is that Enbridge's view?


MR. HOEY:  That is our view.  It was an independent report.  I consider it much like an audit report, and at the end of the day, it is management's view of whether it is going to work or not.


At the same time, if we're not going to accept it, we must have very clear and valid reasons for not accepting it; and we would have to put it down to a piece of paper and hopefully convince other parties that our position is reasonable.


MR. MILLAR:  There is no mechanism for any party to challenge you on that?


MR. HOEY:  I think through the consultative process that we would bring up -- I mean, if we're getting a lot of feedback that was completely unacceptable through the consultative process, we would have to go back and look at it and may have to rethink it.


MR. MILLAR:  So the mechanism is the consultative process?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  Ultimately we will come back to the hearing when we get back in here to do cost of service or rebasing.


MR. MILLAR:  I see the intervenors are in the room and I see at least some people nodding, so I am assuming that is a shared understanding with the intervenors?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes, on behalf of IGUA.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I mean, if they don't take one of their recommendations, or decide to do something completely different and can't explain why, and it produces wild numbers, then the forum for complaining about that would be either under the ARC -- because they're paying an inappropriate amount between the utility and the parent --or it would be when they come for rebasing, in terms of affecting rates or, again, anything that happens with the gas IR.


MR. HOEY:  Just a comment in response to Mr. Buonaguro:  We don't see the recommendations changing the numbers in any way.  It is either how they're reported or how they're added up, or the pieces. 


But the methodology, for all intents and purposes, has not been adjusted by the recommendations.  It is what I will call how you put it altogether at the end of the day.


So we don't see the number changing in any material way, whether we accept or don't accept the recommendation.  It is whether -- is this reporting needed, or is this reporting needed in this way?  And what are we going to get out of it, if we do do it that way, in terms of value to all parties? 


MR. MILLAR:  So it's your view that the methodology itself, if I can put it that way, is not impacted by these recommendations?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct; that's our understanding. 


MR. MILLAR:  And there is no concern about -- I guess you have accepted the report, but not necessarily recommended each discrete recommendation within it?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Do you agree with that, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I guess the proof will be in whether or not somebody can demonstrate that a change -- accepting one of these recommendations affects the number.  I mean, there are opinions that it won't affect the number.


MR. KAISER:  Well, that is what the witness has just said.  Do you agree with that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I don't know.  I have never been in RCAM myself.  I don't know if implementing one of these things would actually change a number or not.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, perhaps I could help.  Just to use an example.  One of the recommendations that Mr. Baldauf made was to possibly combine two of the services, and what Mr. Hoey is saying is that the direction that was given to the company at the beginning was that you should have these services described at a degree of granularity which let everybody know what is in fact going on.


If you combine the two, you're not going to change the aggregate number.  It is just a question of whether or not it is going to be as practical for the service provider, service recipients, to understand the nature of the services and articulate it in the service schedule. 


So it is really just a matter of -- I wouldn't use the word semantics, but it is a matter of massaging the methodology that, by the settlement agreement, all parties have agreed to.


MR. MILLAR:  If I could just ask one more question, Mr. Chair.  I know we're lucky enough to actually have Mr. Baldauf on the Panel.  Maybe I would just seek his view. 


Enbridge and, it appears, the intervenors are satisfied that the methodology itself can be adopted without necessarily each single one of the recommendations you outline, starting on page 51, be adopted. 


Does that cause any concern for you, and are you satisfied with that response?


MR. BALDAUF:  We are.  The recommendations really help fine-tune some of the processes involved and support some of the elements of the other supporting documents or the other supporting codes that are involved in this.  So there is a requirement for benchmarking along the way.


Our recommendations, particularly around combining services, was to allow intervenors, other interested parties, the Board, to understand how Enbridge's costs compare to other similar organizations.


So if -- it doesn't affect, though, that piece doesn't affect how the methodology develops the number.  So the methodology is, as we've said, robust.  It is complete.  It captures all of the pieces, we believe, from end to end, and gives a reasonable cost for providing these services.


These pieces at the front end, around the recommendations, essentially tune it up a little bit further and offer perhaps a little bit more transparency and a little bit more completeness to the methodology.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, witnesses, and thank you, 

Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  And we have no objection to the settlement agreement.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, moving on to the evidence-in-chief, perhaps I can introduce the panel.  

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. O'Leary


MR. O'LEARY:  Closest to yourselves is Jane Haberbusch, who is the director of human resources at Enbridge Gas Distribution.


On her right is Mr. Narin Kishinchandani, who is the director of finance and control.


And of course to his right is Mr. Hoey, who is director regulatory affairs.


Then of course, Mr. Baldauf, who is the independent evaluator of the RCAM.


Often, I will at this stage list all of the evidence that the parties are going to adopt, but to save time perhaps I could simply refer to it as appearing in the settlement proposal, and to ask Mr. Hoey, in respect of all of the prefiled evidence and all of the testimony that was filed in this proceeding -- the undertakings, the interrogatory responses, all of the evidence that has been filed under the direction and with the assistance of members of Enbridge Gas Distribution -- can I ask you whether or not it was prepared under the direction and supervision of those people that were involved?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And do you, on behalf of the Enbridge Gas Distribution panel, adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. HOEY:  I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Baldauf, if I could ask you as well, just in respect of your report and your reply.  Can I ask whether those documents and any of the assistance you have provided in terms of responding to interrogatories by the intervenors, were they prepared by you or under your direction and supervision?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, they were. 


MR. O'LEARY:  And you adopt it for the purpose of your testimony here?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If I could ask each of our Enbridge Gas Distribution panel just to very briefly explain your role with the company, and if you have had any involvement with the RCAM consultative.  Perhaps I could start with you, Ms. Haberbusch.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  As director of human resources, I have responsibility for all employee-related policies, practices and programs within the utility.  I am also a member of the executive management team.


In terms of the consultative, I am a recipient of Enbridge Inc. HR services, so I was interviewed in that regard by MNP, but that was the extent of my involvement in that process.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Kishinchandani.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  In my role as director of finance and control, I am responsible for the financial accounting and reporting obligations of EGD, ensuring maintenance of an appropriate controlling management, and compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Ontario Securities Commission.


I have been involved in the RCAM consultative in the capacity of project manager, right since its inception in June of 2006, and I have filed evidence in this proceeding, as well.


MR. O'LEARY:  Finally, Mr. Hoey.


MR. HOEY:  As director of regulatory affairs, I'm responsible for the regulatory matters at EGD, both at the Ontario Energy Board and the National Energy Board. 


With regard to the RCAM, I have had two roles.  I have had -- I have been a service recipient of some services, and therefore was interviewed as part of the process, but as well I have had overall responsibility for the regulatory matters, and the RCAM consultative process that has gone on since June of last year.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you. 


Turning to you, Mr. Baldauf, could I ask you – and, Mr. Chair, the Panel -- to turn up from Exhibit K17.1, 

tab 5.  What is appended there are excerpts from the MNP response to the request for proposals which the company put out to potential bidders for the independent evaluation.


Perhaps I could ask Mr. Baldauf to go through that, and, beginning with your CV, which is -- you will find the pages are numbered at the top right-hand corner, sir.  Page 35 is the curriculum vitae of Mr. Baldauf.


I note, Mr. Baldauf, that you have, from page 39, a bachelor degree in political science and economics, University of Toronto.  You have, from the University of Western Ontario, the executive leadership study program with the Ivy Business School.  


You have been employed as a principal partner with MNP since -- is it 2005?


MR. BALDAUF:  2006 I took over the management-consulting practice in Alberta, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Prior to that, you were with several positions in Calgary during the 2000s, and then with Canadian Pacific Railway during the 1990s.


Could I ask you to go to the first page of your curriculum vitae and perhaps identify those selected assignments you have identified in your CV that you would like to draw to the attention of the Board as indicating your prior experience and expertise you brought to this project.


MR. BALDAUF:  Okay.  Thank you.  As I mentioned, I lead the management-consulting practice in Alberta.  We have a significant exposure right now in the public sector.  We do strategic planning, board governance, corporate governance, corporate structure.  And the one part of the public sector that we deal with is our utilities practice, and we have done a lot of work with all of the utilities in western Canada, including BCTC, Manitoba Hydro.  We're currently engaged with SaskPower.  We have done work with EPCOR and ENMAX and Altalink, as well.


The particular experience that we bring as a team to this engagement is our experience in corporate structure, operations, elements of operations, including IT, finance and administration, and also our background over the past several years in appearing before different boards with respect to corporate cost allocation.


Mr. O'Leary alluded to my experience at the railway where we were involved -- I was involved, from the commercial perspective, in developing a corporate cost allocation or shared services model across the various properties involved in the railway.


Currently, we're involved with two corporate cost allocation or shared-services model engagements with clients, one in the oil-field-services sector and one in the not-for-profit sector in the province.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could turn you to the first page of tab 5, which is the cover page to your response.  The next several pages there is a summary of some of the reasons you put forward on behalf of MNP as to why it was particularly qualified to act as the independent evaluator here.  


Are there any references there you would like to highlight for the purposes of --


MR. BALDAUF:  I think particularly --


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  Before Mr. Baldauf -- we might be able to save some time.  If Mr. O'Leary is trying to qualify Mr. Baldauf, I think I can speak on behalf of every intervenor.  No one is taking issue with MNP's qualifications.  They are on the record.  He has worked throughout the consultative.


We might be able to save some time and simply go straight to the point:  He is qualified to give the report that he gave that is on the record.


MR. KAISER:  I think that is right, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.  Perhaps, then, part of it was not only going to be in terms of his qualifications, but perhaps I could turn you to page 29, then, Mr. Baldauf, and in terms of what you were identifying to both Enbridge Gas Distribution and to intervenors, whom I understand also saw your response to the request for proposals --


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  -- before the company was selected?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, they did.


MR. O'LEARY:  There is some indication of areas that you would use for the purposes of your evaluation.  Can you perhaps highlight that for the Board.


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.  One of the elements that we were chosen (sic), aside from the qualifications around the utilities sector and the team that we had and our program evaluation capability, was also the information or the knowledge that we bring to the table in doing comparative cost analysis and research.  


So one of the key elements or requirements within the RFP was to bring comparative data research to the consultative.


So we have, you know, at our disposal in our firm a tool called global best practices, which captures a number of different business processes, what we call vignettes, that talk about how some of these processes are delivered in organizations, in leading organizations around the world, and then also the comparative data with respect to our utility experience, where we have done these type of engagements before.


So we thought that was a really -- one of the reasons we responded to this proposal was the fact we knew we could do the work based on the past experience that we had, and also the comparative data piece, which was a fairly significant portion of the RFP.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  You mentioned earlier -- the word was that a team was engaged.  Could you perhaps indicate to the Board the nature of the team and who were the other principals that were involved, to the extent reasonable.


MR. BALDAUF:  As the intervenors noticed, we had a very capable team leader or project manager, Ava Korpela, CFA, CMA, who led us through the process.  It was, you know, a tremendous amount of work involved in making sure that the communications, the information, the analysis was all done in a timely manner.


As you are likely aware, Mr. Chair, this happened in a very condensed period of time.  So there were a significant amount of interviews, a significant amount of data to capture, compile, compare, and then begin to bring to analysis.


So she orchestrated all of that.  She was supported by a team of five people in our consulting practice and two people from our core accounting side.  


MNP is, first and foremost, an accounting firm based in western Canada, so we brought two of our accounting professionals to our project.  They were assigned specifically to review, component by component, cost by cost, the RCAM itself.  So they dissected the entire model over a period of three-and-a-half to four weeks.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Baldauf, have you personally been -- have you personally appeared as an expert before an energy regulator on a prior occasion?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, I have.  I appeared as an expert witness in the ENMAX hearings in 2005, and supported the witness preparation for the EPCOR hearings later that same year.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could turn to you, Mr. Hoey, and just ask for the company's perspective on the qualifications and the reasons behind the company's willingness to accept MNP as the independent evaluator.


MR. HOEY:  When we reviewed the decision from the 2006 decision, a couple of key areas that the Board raised were the independence of the evaluation.  That was clearly an issue, and also intervenor involvement in that independent evaluation.


So our start point was that whoever we picked (a) would have to be independent, and that kind of eliminated a lot of people from the process in terms of, let's say, the big five accounting firms.  They were almost immediately eliminated, and so it almost made us go to a tier 2 type of company; and then, secondly, the process also had to include the intervenors, in terms of helping us to select that party.


As it turned out with MNP, not only did we get someone who was capable of doing a corporate cost allocation type of model, but, as well, they also had some regulatory experience and had done it in Alberta.


So I think overall they fit the framework we were looking for first, but, most importantly, they had to be independent and that was the key driver behind all of this.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Kishinchandani, you indicated that you have been involved with the RCAM consultative from the beginning.  May I ask you whether or not you have any views as to the -- I described it as a consensus which was reached with intervenors -- as to the acceptance of MNP as the independent evaluator.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.  MNP was chosen...

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, could you turn your microphone on, please?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sorry.  The intervenors were kept in the loop all along the way.  We were -- through the RFP process, through the evaluation of the RFP process, and through the selection phases, sometimes through the direct involvement, other times through their representatives, Rosen & Associates.  


The entire process was worked through -- the actual consideration of the proposal from MNP was done in consultation with Rosen & Associates.


Rosen & Associates did confirm their -- they were conferred with the selection of MNP.  Some of the comments at the meeting on September 8th we got from Rosen & Associates were that their proposal had a comprehensive and detailed work plan.  The partner had relevant testimony and work experience, good experience of conducting similar work in Alberta.


Now, while Rosen & Associates did -- they did note that MNP had worked for utilities only and appeared to have a history of favouring the utilities.  However, Rosen & Associates did indicate they had no objection to the selection of MNP.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, does MNP have a position on the two unsettled matters?


MR. O'LEARY:  Their position is as set out in the report and in their reply.  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  So are they on your side, or the intervenors' side?


MR. O'LEARY:  I wouldn't say they're on the gas company's side.  They have expressed an opinion based upon their experience and, frankly, we submit, common sense; but that's obviously the issue that is here today.


MR. KAISER:  What about Rosen & Associates, who do they line up with?  On the unsettled issues; that is all I'm interested in.


MR. O'LEARY:  Of course, sir.  They are, we submit, the advocates for the intervenors.


MR. KAISER:  I see.  All right.  We will come back in 20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 11:10 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  You inquired earlier today about the costs associated with the consultative, and I would ask Mr. Hoey to respond to that, to the extent we can.


MR. HOEY:  We have looked at it and the intervenors -- we just collected all in one account and we would have to go back and look at it invoice by invoice to come up with what the costs would be for that particular process.  


It would take a significant amount of work to go back through invoices over the last year, but we could do it, if requested by the Board.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think it is that important, if it is going to involve a lot of work.  I don't think we will trouble you with it any further.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just a question, Mr. Chair.  If you could just clarify again how the disposition of this works, Mr. Hoey?


MR. HOEY:  It was included in our operating budget for 2007, so it is cleared through there.  There is a deferral account that we have for hearing rate expenses.  So it sits at a certain level.


If we don't incur at that level, then it is added as a refund back to ratepayers.  If it ends up being higher than the target level, then we would collect it back subsequently in future years from ratepayers.  Either way it is a credit or debit so...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Got you.


MR. KAISER:  Have you ever given money back?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, just before the break we had reached the stage where the witnesses were complete with their description, and it was a brief one, of the qualifications of MNP and the reasons why they were selected.


It is a bit unique in this proceeding, in that we have all of the parties agreeing that they had the qualifications.  So we would request that on the basis of what you heard and what Mr. DeRose has acknowledged, that Mr. Baldauf be qualified as an expert and, in particular - this is something we think is important for you to recognize - that he has expert experience appearing as a witness and as a consultant in terms of regulated utility corporate cost allocations.  


So we ask he be qualified to give opinion evidence in that regard.


MR. KAISER:  Is he an expert on the two outstanding matters, this question of stock options and the cost of raising equity?


MR. O'LEARY:  We submit he is a completely qualified to speak to both, both from a corporate cost allocation perspective, but also from an accounting business perspective, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baldauf, it may be in your material, but have you dealt with this issue with other utilities in the past?  I'm talking about the unsettled issues.


MR. BALDAUF:  We have dealt specifically, sir, with stock-based compensation as part of -- executive compensation as part of HR services.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We accept Mr. Baldauf as an expert.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.  Turning to the first of the two issues, which is stock-based compensation.  Can I turn to you first, Ms. Haberbusch, to explain the reasons why the company has a stock-based compensation program.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  I noted in the prefiled evidence, which is located at D1, tab 2, schedule 2, that one of the most pressing issues that is facing Canadian industry right now is the aging work force, which is going to mean a loss of experienced senior managers and other staff through retirements, with increasing competition for fewer replacement workers.


This means that retention of our experienced and knowledgeable people is a critical and growing priority.  If you add to that the increasing demand for experienced energy utilities, senior leaders, particularly in Ontario, where we're competing with all of the electric LDCs, OPG, the OPA and even the OEB, having a competitive and competitive compensation package, one that is going to promote the retention of key people, is extremely important.


The inclusion of stock-based compensation is just one element of a competitive compensation package.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Could you also now identify what are the objectives and expectations of your -- of the company's stock-based compensation program.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Sure.  The pay philosophy at EGD, positions are total cash compensation at the 50th percentile of the market, when the plants pay out at target levels.  That means that the total of all three elements - base pay, short-term incentives and long-term incentives - when they're combined together, are designed to reach the 50th percentile of the market.


So stated differently, if you removed any aspect of that compensation package, it wouldn't reach the 50th percentile, would no longer be considered competitive within the marketplace.


Obviously if that happened and you reduced that compensation level to something that was non-competitive, you would start losing people and you would have difficulty attracting people to replace them, as well as any other resources that you would need to operate the business.


In the case of stock options, they're one of the components of the long-term incentive plan which makes up a significant portion of the compensation package for executives and senior management.  The long-term incentive package is specifically designed to focus on the achievement of long-term company goals and to incent retention of skilled senior people.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Could you provide some additional detail about the stock-based compensation program.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Our stock-based plan, or LTIP as it is sometimes called, long-term incentive plan, is comprised of three types of awards, stock options, performance stock units and restricted stock units.


Stock options are granted annually for a 10-year term and they vest equally over four years of continuous employment.


Performance stock units are granted annually for a three-year term.  They vest at the end of the three years of continuous employment, and they're paid out in cash, if a specified performance goal has been achieved.


Restricted stock units are granted annually.  They also vest for a three-year period of continuous employment, and they're paid out in cash based on the -- based on the share price at the end of the term.


It is my understanding that neither the intervenors nor Rosen & Associates are questioning the valuation of and recovery for performance stock units or restricted stock units.  It is only the stock option component that is under discussion for rate recovery.  So that is the component that I will continue to focus on.


Within EGD, directors, vice presidents and the president are eligible for stock-option grants.  Participation in the plan is determined by the human resource compensation committee of the Enbridge Inc. board of directors.  Eligibility to participate in that program is restricted to those people who are seen as being key from a decision-making perspective and operational-accountability perspective.


Individual performance ratings, succession potential, and criticality for retention are all factored into the calculation of the grant.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Do you have a view as to how your plan compares with other companies in the marketplace, generally?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  We do benchmarking annually to ensure that our compensation rates are competitive within the market in which we operate.


We do test those levels of compensation.  We utilize external third parties, usually large consulting firms, to help us benchmark.  And, yes, we are absolutely convinced that we fall in the 50th percentile for those plans.


MR. O'LEARY:  And in the event that stock options were discontinued, either voluntarily or as a result of a board directive, do you have a view as to what would be the impact on the company and its employees and what might be the alternative?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, absolutely.  If it was just strictly a removal of that piece of the compensation, the package in total falls to an uncompetitive level.  So we would have significant impacts.


One, we would start to lose the key people that we currently have; and, secondly, we wouldn't be able to attract and then retain new people to take those individuals' places, because we wouldn't have a competitive offer to make into the market.


In terms of how we would respond if a piece of that compensation were suddenly disallowed, I think it would require a rebalancing of the other components to make up for that gap.


Now, whether or not we would look to one of our other LTIP vehicles to take its place or look at some other mechanism, whether that is increasing the short-term piece, would have to be determined, but definitely, we would have to make that component up to remain competitive.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Do you have a view as to whether or not the cost would be comparable to the company, to pursue this alternative?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, if you just strictly replaced the stock-option component with, say, an equivalent cash payment, I am not sure that the recipients would even see that as an equal transfer of value, because right now, with stock options, they have the ability to defer exercising them for up to ten years, and there is also some preferential income-tax treatment that you can utilize with stock options that is not there for cash payouts.


So I would suggest that to equalize that value, it probably would even cost the company more in terms of its operating cost.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.  Can I ask you, Ms. Haberbusch, your view as to whether stock option plans benefit ratepayers, and if so, how or why?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I absolutely think that they do, for a couple of reasons.  The basic premise is that you need to have adequate compensation in order to attract and retain the people that have the right skills, the competencies and the experience to effectively manage the business.


If you want to ensure that safety and reliability is going to be maintained, that customer standards are achieved, that the continued financial ability of the company is maintained, you have to have people with the right qualifications to do that.


Stock options are one component of the total compensation offer, and it is the sum of all of those pieces together that we benchmark against the market; and that is how we attract the people we need to do the jobs that we require them to do.


MR. O'LEARY:  You spoke about employee or executive retention earlier.  Do you have a view as to whether or not there is a ratepayer benefit, in terms of the retention of senior executives and management?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, absolutely.  LTIP programs, by their very nature, are designed to incent retention, and retention equates to leadership continuity.


If we were having leadership turnover, that is going to attract a lot more operating cost, in terms of sourcing appropriate candidates; recruiting them; having to train them.  Those are considerable costs that would be added to the expenses of the utility.


There is also a resulting productivity loss and a potential loss of focus that happens during those transition periods, and that is of negative impact to the ratepayer, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, which of your panel members have stock options?  All three?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I do. 


MR. O'LEARY:  I don't, sir.  Sorry.


In terms of the determination of whether stock options are granted, can you give us an idea of the type of assessment, or the formula -- if there is -- that is used?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, certainly.  There are a number of things that factor into the grant that is given to any individual.


It looks at three different things.  It looks at the long-term performance of that person; and obviously long-term performance is tied into the achievement of annual results, which is including our balanced scorecard results, which incorporate safety, employee-related, customer-related and financial measures.  It also looks at the succession capability of that individual, and it also looks at how critical is it to retain that person within the organization.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Perhaps to just pick up on the question from the Chair:  If, as a recipient of stock options, Ms. Haberbusch, if that aspect of your compensation was taken away, what would your view be of that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Absolutely.  Speaking for myself and I know, having interviewed many of our senior leaders in terms of their compensation, stock options are seen as a very valuable portion of the total compensation package that is offered.  So it would certainly be seen negatively if that were removed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Then, in terms of the stock-option plans, I understand you are an employee with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Do you have any familiarity with the Enbridge Inc. stock-option plan, and if so, how did you acquire that familiarity?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, I am; in fact, it is the same plan.  Enbridge uses the same LTIP program for all of the senior leaders throughout the family of Enbridge companies.  So it is the same plan.  It is administered and developed through Enbridge Inc., and that is also done in consultation with the HR council to help in that design piece, which is comprised of all of the senior leaders in the HR roles in the larger business units, of which I am also a member.  So it is –- essentially, it is the same plan.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.


I am going to turn next to you, Mr. Baldauf.  I am going to read a quote from page 33 of your report.  It is not all that long, so perhaps I could just read it in, but it is your report which is found at D2, Tab 1, schedule 1, at page 33.  Where you state that:

"MNP was asked by the intervenors to consider the cost incurrence implications of stock-based compensation generally.  Stock options granted to EI and EGD employees do not require a cash outlay by EI, and as such, are deemed a notional expense.  The intervenors' position is that this notional expense has not associated economic cost to EI and therefore should not be included as an expense in the determination of 2007 rates.  The intervenors do not dispute the fact that EI is obligated to record a charge against earnings for the value of the options granted."


You then go on to state in the next paragraph that:

"In MNP's opinion, EI does incur an economic cost when granting stock options."


I'm wondering, sir, if you could expand on the opinion that you included in your report.


MR. BALDAUF:  Thank you.  As Ms. Haberbusch said, stock options are part of a total compensation plan, and are part of a growing trend in having a total compensation plan at leading organizations.


Recently, you know, to support some of our work and to support our testimony in preparing for this, we looked at the top 100 firms of the TSX composite index for fiscal 2006, and see that the majority of those participants in that top 100 list surveyed do indeed have stock options as part of their compensation.  And as you can imagine, that list includes organizations like TransAlta, Suncor, the oil and gas -- other oil and gas companies, financial services, et cetera.  That list is --


MR. O'LEARY:  Stop there, Mr. Baldauf.  Are you referring to the document that is found at Tab 1 of 

Exhibit K17.1?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.  I was just about to refer to that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay, thank you.


MR. BALDAUF:  Sorry I didn't give you that reference earlier.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is in the Exhibit K17.1.  Tab 1 is a copy of the compensation report.


MR. BALDAUF:  So this provides, you know, an interesting overview of all of the elements of compensation for the -- or the significant elements of compensation for the top 100 executives in Canada.  Interestingly enough, Pat Daniels, the CEO of Enbridge, isn't on this list.  


What we looked at here, and as part of the other research that we conducted for our analysis, is that this is considered, stock options are considered as part of a total compensation plan.  They can't be taken as just a separate piece, and they need to be considered in its entirety, as Ms. Haberbusch mentioned.  


There is one interesting note that we had in there, and I thought I would bring it to your attention.  If you look at the CEO of Onex, Jerry Schwartz, who is listed at number 12 --


MR. O'LEARY:  On the first page?


MR. BALDAUF:  On the first page.  His total compensation is $13.685 million, and that compares with the next one below that, Tony Comper -- I think the former CEO of the Bank of Montreal -- whose compensation is $13.4 million.  But Jerry Schwartz's comp consists entirely of salary and bonus, where Comper's compensation, according to this document, consists of "salary, bonus, other compensation, share units and option grants".


So what it demonstrates to us is that this is -- this shows what total compensation and how it is reported on an annual basis.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Baldauf, I presume that the issue of stock-based compensation was an issue raised by intervenors during the consultative, and that there were discussions in respect of the issue between yourself and either intervenors and/or Rosen & Associates.


Can you please describe the concerns, as you understood them, that were expressed to you by either the intervenors or Rosen & Associates, in respect of stock-based compensation?


MR. BALDAUF:  Sure.  The issue of stock-based compensation was raised not at the beginning of the consultative, but somewhere in the -- I would say, close to the midpoint.  I can check that.


The concerns were limited to strictly one of whether or not this theory of Rosen & Associates about there being no cash outlay, justifies no recovery.  From our understanding and from our participation, neither Rosen & Associates, nor the other intervenors, suggested that stock options did not constitute an important element of a compensation package of those employees to whom they are granted.


And the intervenors nor Rosen, throughout the consultative, challenged the fact that there was a benefit to the ratepayers by the existence of a stock option plan.  But it was -- the issue was limited, as I recall, solely to the unique regulatory principle within which Rosen & Associates believed it should be applied.


So along the way, we sort of framed the work -- framed our work into how far we were going to go on stock-based compensation, and so we were a little bit surprised by Rosen's approach, when we did a little bit additional research.


In one of the articles that we found published by 

Mr. Rosen, in an article in Financial Post on September 9th, 2004 entitled:  "What to watch for with stock option expenses", Mr. Rosen appears to accept that stock options should be recognized as an expense.


And speaking to the importance of valuing those stock options, I can quote from the article.  Mr. Rosen is quoted as saying:

"It is important in the sense that it has been hidden for so long and in some companies can be a very large part of the employment expense."


So we interpret the quote as properly indicating that because stock based -- or stock options form part of the compensation package, they should be considered and -- they should be considered and appropriately are considered an employment expense.


MR. KAISER:  Can we have that article, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  I am going to take you to, in fact -- and we will provide you with a copy of the Financial Post excerpt, but I am actually going to ask Mr. Baldauf to go to the actual report that was co-authored by Mr. Rosen, and that is found at -- it is in response to an Enbridge interrogatory at K2.3, schedule 1, which -- there are 13 pages to that, but it is the report attached to it, which is entitled "What to watch for with stock-option expenses."


The article which Mr. Baldauf referred to is a Financial Post question and answer with Mr. Rosen following his publication of the report.


If I could turn you --


MR. KAISER:  Is this the 2004 article?


MR. O'LEARY:  July 27th, 2004, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. DeROSE:  Before Mr. O'Leary moves on, Mr. Chair, I have let something go twice now.  The witnesses have now twice referred to conversations and representations made in the consultative.


What they have said, to be honest, hasn't prejudiced anything; they're accurate.  But my concern is this.  At the technical conference the intervenors, and specifically Ms. Girvan, asked for the notes from the consultative, and the position of the company was that that consultative should not be disclosed because it was -- it should be under a certain veil of freedom to make representations in the consultative, et cetera, something akin to a settlement agreement.


The parties have operated on that basis.  I think that when the company objects to producing the notes that were taken at the consultative, and then Mr. Baldauf and the representative from Enbridge then quote what was said at the consultative, that causes me some concern, and I think -- I don't have an objection to the evidence that's gone in.  It's accurate.  But I think as a going-forward proposition, witnesses should not be reporting to this Board as evidence what parties were saying in the consultative.


The parties have put their positions in their reports as evidence before you, and that is what should be spoken to.


MR. KAISER:  I think that is right, Mr. O'Leary.  I know this is not a settlement, I suppose, in the strictest terms, but, in reality, it is.  A settlement agreement came out as a result of this consultative process, and it has been the practice before the Board to respect that confidentiality.  


Typically Board members don't want to hear what went on in the kitchen, as it were.  So I think you should advise your witnesses not to divulge anything that went on in that actual process.


MR. O'LEARY:  We will certainly comply with that.  This is a bit of a different -- unique breed, in that my understanding is what transpired is initially it was felt that it would not be confidential, but that it was in fact the intervenors had requested there be some confidential treatment.


Then my recollection was that Mr. DeRose indicated that he would waive that for the purposes of producing the documents for the technical conference.  We then obviously agreed we didn't need all of these documents.  


One of our positions was all of this mountain of paper was irrelevant and that was a real reason and objection for not producing it at the time.  There has certainly been no intent or desire to, in any way, violate any confidentiality here.  But it is somewhat unique, in that you've got an independent evaluator that is now trying to acknowledge that he understood the issue as brought forward by the intervenors, and the issue does not include these two areas that you might have thought would have been brought forward.


Indeed, if you look at the report of Rosen & Associates, they do not opine on the issue of ratepayer benefits nor do they opine on whether stock-based compensation is of value to the recipients.  They simply don't do that.  That is why Mr. DeRose can certainly agree that there has been nothing that has been said which is of harm to the intervenors.


But I will certainly respect that and we will avoid making any reference to what transpired there in the balance.


If I could now take you, Mr. Baldauf, to -- do you have a copy of that?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  I simply wanted refer you to page 3.  This is the report by Mr. Mark Rosen and Mr. Al Rosen, and I am presuming that Mr. Rosen is the principal of Rosen & Associates.  I am not certain he is going to be testifying here today, but this was the report -- when we asked for all of the documents that had been written on the subject, this is the report that was filed by the intervenors in response to that interrogatory.


At page 3 in the third paragraph, if you go half-way down the paragraph, it states that:  

"The delay in expensing options on the income statement outside of Canada is not so much a question of whether options are an expense, but, rather, how to best measure the expense."


Do you have a view, Mr. Baldauf, as to whether or not that adds to or detracts from what you have just said?


MR. BALDAUF:  I think it just supports what I said, that these elements of compensation are an expense and should be properly allocated across an organization, whether in a parent or via an affiliate transaction.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, your witnesses referred to this Globe and Mail piece that lists the top 100 CEOs and what their breakup is between bonus, salary and stock options.


Can you give us the same information for the president of Enbridge?


MR. O'LEARY:  For Enbridge Inc., as in Mr. Daniels?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, and Enbridge Distribution.  I presume they both have stock options.


MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps Ms. Haberbusch could respond to that, at least as a general matter.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Certainly.  For the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution, yes, that information is available and, yes, he would have stock options.


It is my understanding that Mr. Daniels' compensation is made up of performance stock units, as well as other forms of compensation.  I would have to check whether he receives stock options, but that information would be on public record. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Is that an undertaking?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, it is.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if that is an undertaking, we will give it a number.  J17.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.1:  TO PROVIDE COMPENSATION BREAKDOWN INFORMATION FOR ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PRESIDENT.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  If I may add, Mr. O'Leary, I just wanted to confirm that the stock-option expense does form part of the financial statements of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  So we do record a charge on the financial statements of Enbridge Gas Distribution for the stock options.


MR. KAISER:  How much is that, sir, for the last year?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I can provide that number to you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that a separate undertaking, 

Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J17.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.2:  TO PROVIDE DOLLAR AMOUNT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PAST YEAR OF EGDI'S STOCK OPTIONS.


MR. KAISER:  Does that become a regulatory expense, Mr. O'Leary, or is that what we're debating here?


MR. O'LEARY:  The amount that we're debating, sir, is the amount that is allocated to Enbridge Gas Distribution in respect of the stock options that are valued for -- that are granted to the senior people at Enbridge Gas Distribution.


There is a methodology, which is the Black-Scholes methodology which -- at the recommendation of Mr. Baldauf, in fact, one of the changes to the amounts that were sought and to be recovered this year is he recommended they use that methodology.  That in fact reduced the amount, the valuation of the stock options, and that is the amount that is included in the 18.1 million.


So that is actually not in issue here.  The only issue is whether or not the valuation of that -- under the Black-Scholes methodology, because there is no cash outlay by the utility -- whether or not that is a recoverable amount in a regulated, cost-of-service setting.


MR. KAISER:  What has been the past practice?  Have you been recovering these costs from ratepayers in the past, or not?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.  In fact, it was in an issue in the 2006 case, and there was expert evidence on behalf of the intervenors that, at that point, they took the position it was too much, but the Board allowed recovery without any reduction in last year's decision.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Baldauf, what's the practice with other utilities?  Are there any other board decisions on this?


MR. BALDAUF:  Sir, there is -- there are a number of board decisions with respect to stock-based compensation.


I have to say that, in our opinion, they're inconclusive.  While boards have allowed and/or disallowed in different jurisdictions some elements of stock-based compensation, the reasons that they seem to give -- or the reasons that they give for the disallowance is because they haven't had enough supporting documents or supporting evidence that ties in the benefit to the ratepayer.


And a lot of these compensation plans, especially if we go back several years, would show compensation plans wouldn't necessarily be stock-based compensation plan but incentive compensation, or perks – if we want to call them – perquisites, that really showed absolutely no benefit to the ratepayer.


For example: golf-club memberships, extra cars, vacation properties, and things like that.


Now we're tying -- compensation plans have become a little bit more sophisticated, a little bit more unique and tie in, as Ms. Haberbusch said, long-term and short-term incentive pieces that are based on performance.  Based on the performance of the company, based on performance of particular operating efficiencies or operating ratios.


So in our opinion --


MR. KAISER:  What we're talking about here is just stock options.  I thought there was no dispute with respect to the performance shares.


MR. O'LEARY:  There's not.


MR. BALDAUF:  Sir, the point I was making there was that there hasn't been enough conclusive evidence provided to some of these boards, in our opinion, that allows them to conclusively rule that stock options should be part of a total compensation plan, and should therefore be allowed.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any cases you can give us, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, sir, as a matter of fact, I do.  I was kind of saving it for argument, but it is a decision of this Board, dated March 18th, 2004, involving Union Gas.  Obviously, I would have also reminded you of the approval of this cost recovery from last year's decision in respect of Enbridge Gas Distribution. 


But in this specifically, the Board addressed the question of whether or not the amount that was allocated for stock options should be recoverable, and at pages 89 and 90, at least of the printout that I have of the decision and reasons, the Board states that:

"It is in agreement with Union's use of incentive payments as a legitimate element of a total compensation package offered to attract and retain qualified managers and staff in a competitive market for human resources.  The question which the Board must consider is the extent to which ratepayers benefit from and should bear the cost of such payments."


The Board then goes on to say that:

"Unless the incentive programs can be shown to be extravagant or otherwise objectionable, they should be supported as part of the revenue requirement.  It would be perilous to create a situation in which the gas distribution utility alone amongst business categories could not effectively attract and keep quality employees through the offering of reasonable incentive programs."

And they went on to --


MR. KAISER:  Who was on that Panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  It was Mr. Birchenough and Mr. Sommerville.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair, could we just ask, since 

Mr. O'Leary appears to have it, that he could file a copy of that decision?  


The other question is this:  Since he didn't provide us with a heads-up on this, it is not in the material that I saw, my memory of that decision is that it was incentive programs, not specifically stock options.  Perhaps Mr. O'Leary, since he has the decision, could advise you whether that was specifically on stock options or on incentive programs, more broadly.


MR. O'LEARY:  My understanding is that included stock options.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  In any event, we would appreciate copies, as would counsel, as to any decisions any of you are going to rely on.  I know it is a bit unusual, but we would just as soon see the law now, rather than later.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, sir.


MR. KAISER:  You can do that over the lunch break.  There is no need to do it right now.


MR. O'LEARY:  There is a National Energy Board decision which actually quotes the Union Gas in support of allowing 100 percent recovery for TransCanada in respect of its stock options, which it previously had considered and allowed only 50 percent. 


So we would be happy to produce that, and they relied on the quote from the Union Gas decision in support of that.  In fact, it is referenced in some of my friends' materials which are included in Exhibit K17.2.


MR. KAISER:  There must be some US cases on this, are there not?


MR. O'LEARY:  Undoubtedly there are, sir.  The difficulty is, unless you drill down into the details of evidence, it is sometimes not abundantly clear from a decision one way or the other whether or not you're dealing with exactly the same animal.


MR. KAISER:  Tell me, why do you take a different position, or why do the intervenors, I guess, take a different position between incentive stock options and garden-variety stock options?


MR. O'LEARY:  I will allow Rosen & Associates to give, obviously, their view, but I understand the only issue is one involves cash outlay by the utility, which is for -- as Ms. Haberbusch said, there is in respect of both restricted units and performance units.  Whereas in an option, there is this notional cash outlay, in that the recipient receives an option to exercise, and when they do exercise on it, they earn -- their cash is received at that point, but there is no cash outlay with the actual granting of the options. 


So it is simply -- if I can call it -- an accounting quirk, that is attempted to be used here to avoid just recovery.


MR. KAISER:  If there is no cost, if there is no cash cost to the company, why should they get to claim a regulatory cost?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, our position, sir, is that there is a cost to the granter of the share options.


MR. KAISER:  What is the cost?


MR. O'LEARY:  There are two.  First of all, it is just accepted that if you issue more shares, it is going to have a dilution impact on the value of all of the outstanding shares.


MR. KAISER:  That's a cost to the shareholders, isn't it?  Doesn't cost the company.


MR. O'LEARY:  A cost to the shareholder, and my understanding is intervenors are going to say it is the shareholder that should accept that.


Our position is that in a regulated environment, where a utility is entitled to reasonable recovery of its reasonable costs, if it is used as part of the compensation package, that the shareholder should not be facing that loss.  But there is another cost, and that is that the treasury --


MR. KAISER:  Just stop there.  The dilution occurs regardless, does it not?


MR. O'LEARY:  It does, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Regardless of what this Board does, if shareholders' value is diminished by issuing additional shares, there is nothing we can do about it.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  But if there is recovery by the parent, that would, in our respectful submission, at least somewhat, if not completely, offset that dilution, because the company, the parent, will then have a revenue stream which is going to offset that, which should be reflected in the share price.


MR. KAISER:  I thought you said it was the shareholders that suffered a cost because their shares got watered down by the stock options.


MR. O'LEARY:  They do, sir.


MR. KAISER:  If the company gets some money, that doesn't help Mr. Buonaguro, if he's sitting with EGD stock; does it?


MR. O'LEARY:  If they read the footnotes to the financial statements, as most of the institutional investors out there do, and they see that they're not recovering amounts for the stock options, I would suggest to you that there would be a further drop in the share price. 


But if they do understand that there is recovery for that, that should have a positive impact on the share price. 


There is a second cost, sir, and that is this: the treasury, Enbridge Inc. treasury, could issue the shares and sell them publicly and it would, then, earn 100 percent of the revenues.  Whereas what is happening here is the difference between the grant price and the exercise price, that goes to the benefit of the recipient of the options.  The treasury is, in effect, out of pocket.  It has foregone that cost.  So the company, Enbridge Inc. -- not its shareholders -- Enbridge Inc.'s treasury has incurred an economic cost.  The only way you could replace that is to, in fact, provide for recovery from ratepayers through the utility.  


This is a corporate cost allocation exercise.  If we looked at it, sir, from the standpoint of a stand-alone utility and it was just Enbridge Gas and it had its own public issue, it becomes actually that much clearer at that point.  If Enbridge Gas Distribution gave stock options to its employees, it has clearly foregone an economic benefit, in that it is not recovering from ratepayers the cost difference between the grant price and the exercise price. 


So the treasury is out that amount of money.  Yet, it is paying for the services of its employees, which is a cost of service.  That is an O&M.  It is paying for that through the options.


Nowhere do I interpret any decision of this Board or any other board as saying that there should be a subsidy by a shareholder or by a utility to the cost of service.  They're entitled to look to their reasonable return on equity, but part of the regulatory compact is, if they come forward with reasonable forecasts of their expenses, which includes all of the employees and the executives and the compensation package of those executives, that in a regulatory context they're entitled to expect recovery for that, sir.


MR. KAISER:  But if I am a utility, and I am issuing a stock option -- let's say on that day the stock is worth $25 -- I'm ultimately going to get the $25 for it; i.e., when the person decides to exercise the option.  I'm not out the $25.


MR. O'LEARY:  You're not out --


MR. KAISER:  It is just a question of when it comes into the treasury.


MR. O'LEARY:  You're not out the full amount, sir.  If the grant price is $25 and they exercise at $35, if the utility had, on that day, on the day of exercise, gone to market, they would have earned $35.


It is going to get the grant amount, the $25, but it is out the $10.


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought, Mr. O'Leary, your argument is that, if I don't issue the stock options, I'm going to have to boost up the salary.  Take Mr. Schwartz:  If he didn't get his $13 million in bonus and stock options or whatever, you can bet his base salary would have been larger.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, that is our position as well.  In fact, Ms. Haberbusch's evidence was in fact that if you take away the stock option, it is likely that the cash equivalent will be greater, because there are tax benefits and deferral benefits that accrue with the stock options which you don't have with the straight cash outlay.


MR. KAISER:  So let's suppose that is a relevant matter.  Is there any hard evidence that says that where companies don't issue stock options, they have to raise the base salary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Is that something, Ms. Haberbusch, you could speak to?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Certainly, when companies benchmark their compensation package as a total within the market, they provide information that shows which elements are making up that package.


Most large utilities, as well as other large corporations, that have options available, do include those as part of their package.  If it is an organization that doesn't have a public issuance of stock, they would use other mechanisms, but the total of those components together is what is benchmarked against the market.


So, yes, absolutely.  If that were not an element that were included in that compensation package, other elements would need to be included to keep that positioning comparable.


MR. KAISER:  I understand the theory, but I am just asking if there is any hard evidence that if you can look at different companies in the energy sector and, as you did with your Globe and Mail article, say, you will notice these salaries are lower than the others, but that is because the stock options are higher.


Have you seen anything to that effect, Mr. Baldauf?


MR. BALDAUF:  Not yet, sir, but I suspect that with the number of the applications that are before the board in Alberta and in British Columbia, that it will be something that will, I think, pop up over the next little while, or be directed to have done.


There's just so much information right now around this and so much question around it, given the competitive marketplace and different jurisdictions, that -- and as I alluded to earlier, with respect to information before previous boards, there is just not that comprehensive information.  I think it will pop up sometime soon.


MR. KAISER:  Is it your experience over time, if we were to go back and look at the last five years, that you have seen regulated utilities more and more offer stock options?  Has there been an increase in this activity, or has it been more or less the same over the past decade?


MR. BALDAUF:  What we have seen, because of the competitive nature of compensation packages and the question around attraction and retention of employees and long-term strategy, to have a sustainable long-term strategy, stock options have become a key element of a total compensation package.


MR. KAISER:  What has been the experience with this company?  Has this plan been in place for a decade, or what?  What has been the experience?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, it has.  It has been.  I would have to get the actual date of its inception, but it has been at least a decade.


MR. KAISER:  Do most regulated utilities have stock options? 


MR. BALDAUF:  Of the public ones that we have seen, at the executive level, they do have stock options, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Is the number of employees that qualify for a stock option in this company which we've heard in evidence, is that the norm?


MR. BALDAUF:  From what we have seen, we have seen that Enbridge falls within sort of, I would think, the norm with respect to who qualifies and at what levels these compensation plans have.


Now, that being said, what we have also seen is that the other plans around compensation that Enbridge has -- or compared to other plans, Enbridge falls very favourably with other utilities.


MR. KAISER:  What does that mean, "very favourably"?  They're higher or lower?


MR. BALDAUF:  They're reasonable.  They're not either excessive or too low.  They seem to be in a very competitive position with respect to where their compensation packages are, across the employee base.


MR. KAISER:  When did this plan become in effect?


MR. BALDAUF:  The stock plan --


MR. KAISER:  Stock option plan.  When was it first put in place at Enbridge?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  We would have to take that as an undertaking, to get you the exact date.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J17.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J17.3:  TO PROVIDE DATE OF INSTITUTION OF ENBRIDGE STOCK OPTION PLAN.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chairman, just in response to your questions about the state of the law, there is one jurisdiction where it appears that the reason why the jurisdiction had some concerns about allowing recovery was that there was a great deal of discretion left to the issuer as to whether or not there would actually be stock options granted.  So if you allow recovery and you don't grant them, then it increases the return.


I was wondering if I could ask you, Ms. Haberbusch, what discretion does Enbridge have in respect of its issuance of stock options?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, they're absolutely reviewed annually and a grant is made to that individual.  It can range from zero, if there are performance issues or concerns that the board has around that individual's retention requirement, up to one-and-a-half times their target.  


So it is very definitely a performance-based plan.  It is intended to award those stock options to those individuals who are seen as providing long-term value to the organization, and are critical to retain over time.


So there is absolute discretion on the board to either award them or choose not to.


MR. KAISER:  How many options are offered each year?  If we looked at the past five years, what are we talking about?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  It's approximately 200,000 options for the Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This is an approximation, but pretty much in that range.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Unless there are any other questions on that, I was going to move on to the next issue.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Turning now to the capital market financing access service.  I'm wondering, Mr. Hoey, if I could ask you to briefly provide the Board with some history as to this service, who has done it in the past and why it is currently being undertaken where it is.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  In 1995, Enbridge applied to the Board to have relief from the undertaking to move the treasury department and the activities of the treasury department and consolidate it in Calgary, and the Board in -- the reference number is EBO 1 -- not EBO.  It is 17904.


In that decision, the Board did allow Enbridge Gas Distribution to move the functions of treasury and capital market access and debt access out to Calgary and consolidate it as part of a corporate envelope and allow for recovery of $900,000 from EGD to EI, or, at that time, Interprovincial Pipelines, for that type of service.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Hoey, if I could turn you to tab 2 of Exhibit K17.1.  We have a copy of the company's, the utility's application and its submissions in respect of that, and other portions of that you would like to take this Panel to.


MR. HOEY:  Sure.  On page 2 of the application, it indicates that, you know, all the employees in the current treasury department, employees of Consumers Gas will become employees of IPL effective October 1 and that they will move to Calgary.


The second thing is, on page 11 of that tab is an appendix 1, which kind of talks to the treasury service that will be provided by IPL, at that time, to the Consumers Gas.


The ones that are most relevant with regards to the services that are under discussion here in this case are, like, part A, acting as a primary interface between Consumers Gas and the financial markets; C, servicing long-term debt and equity obligations; G, advice on public and private debt issues and structures, arrangements; H, acting as a primary interface for the credit-rating agencies; and I, preparation and participation in regulatory hearings.  


As well, they also ensure that the secondary market for our debt instruments are that information gets to debt holders and that there is a liquid market for our debt in the market, as well.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Hoey.  If I could now turn you to tab 3.  Under that we have included an excerpt from transcripts, volume 9 in the EB-2005-0001 proceeding, which is the Enbridge 2006 rates case.  There are several excerpts from Mr. Brad Boyle.  What is his position?


MR. HOEY:  His position is treasurer for Enbridge Gas Distribution, but he has just recently resigned that due to medical leave.  He was quite familiar with all of the activities of treasury.  He has testified before the Board on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution in terms of equity financing, debt financing, those types of matters.


In this particular context, in terms of this hearing, he outlines the different types of services that EI is providing EGD on its behalf.  He talks about capital-market financing access, both for debt and for equity.  He talks about the maintenance of a liquid secondary market.  He also talks about regulatory support, as well.


He also goes on, later on, to talk about, on page -- this would be on page 23 of the attachment here, that he has specific personal knowledge about what happened with the people and that -- in that he, I know, was one of the people that moved from Consumers Gas to IPL at the time, to the treasury department, to work on that activity.  And that all of those activities do take significant number of people and man-hours to do.  And he talks about that on page 23 and 24 up -- on the attachment.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you. 


If I could turn now to you, Mr. Kishinchandani.  Do you have any evidence to add to what Mr. Hoey said, in terms of the move to Calgary and the activities that are being untaken there, versus in Toronto?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sure.  I can add and confirm that the activities being undertaken at Enbridge Inc. are activities that do not happen at Enbridge Gas Distribution.


I can also confirm, through my discussions with Enbridge Inc., that the salary and overheads associated with these activities are expensed and included in the Enbridge Inc. budget. 


So these are totally internal costs, internal overheads associated with the activities incurred in the Calgary office and, as such, are expensed and incurred in the EI budget. 


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  I'm wondering -- and I don't know whether, Mr. Chair, you need to turn there or not -- but Mr. Kishinchandani, Exhibit K2.2, schedule 11 attachment 26, that is the business case that was developed as part of the RCAM process for this particular service.


I'm wondering, is there anything in there you could use to assist the Board, in terms of the nature of the services that are undertaken in Calgary?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sure.  I would like to start by talking about the need for capital. 


Primarily as a result of the continuous growth of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the gas line main replacement program and other necessary maintenance capital that the company needs to incur on a ongoing basis, Enbridge Gas Distribution is very clearly a capital-intensive business.


As is noted in the business description you just pointed out to Mr. O'Leary, its capital spending alone each year exceeds $300 million, which means that with a 35/65 equity/debt ratio -- and which is now obviously 36/64 -- the company must find at least $108-million of equity each year.  So that is new equity each year.


As noted further in the business case, raising capital obviously is an ongoing activity which requires sophisticated specialized professionals.  We firmly believe that it is not a part-time or partial or a casual pursuit.  It obviously requires attentiveness and regular communication all year round with banks, financial institutions, institutional investors and with credit-rating agencies.


I would further like to emphasize that EGD's current involvement in the activities relating to raising capital is solely limited to being an information provider to the Enbridge Inc. personnel, if requested by them.  And, also, to the extent, you know, we have any due-diligence calls with the underwriters of any new issuances, Enbridge Gas Distribution would participate in those calls, which are relatively brief conference calls.


MR. O'LEARY:  May I ask you, then, to turn to Tab 4 of Exhibit K17.1, which is the brief that was filed this morning.  It is the document entitled:  "Current Enbridge treasury structure".  Am I correct this is the Enbridge Inc. treasury structure?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.  I would like to start by pointing out that EGD does not have a treasury department, and we entirely rely upon Enbridge Inc. for all aspects of treasury-related functions.


A number of positions shown in the organization chart of Enbridge Inc. -- positions such as vice president, treasury and tax; assistant treasurer; director, cash management and banking -- these are all senior positions, along with the support teams, are the roles that actually provide the service to EGD; and I can confirm that at EGD there are no such positions.  There are no individuals capable of handling this service, this function.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry?  


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sorry, there are no positions at Enbridge Gas Distribution that are capable of handling this function.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry to cut you off.  


Mr. Baldauf, could I turn to you, next, and ask that, as a result of your independent evaluation, what was your determination of the activities that are undertaken, that are the subject of this service.  Where are they, and are they necessary, in terms of the raising of equity capital?


MR. BALDAUF:  Mr. O'Leary, this was one of the services that we evaluated as part of our independent evaluation.


We, as part of the work, as part of the three-prong test, we looked specifically to see if this was a service that was required by EGD and, with respect to attracting the necessary equity capital and maintaining access to the equity markets, we found there is no question that this activity is required by EGD in its ongoing efforts.


We also confirmed that the activity, however, was not performed by EGD and it relied entirely on EI to raise the necessary capital.


As assessed and determined in the interviews, which was part of the process that we conducted, we determined -– and which was supported by the business case and service schedules -- some of the activities that were related to this that are provided by EI to EGD.  And amongst them, many of them and the many different positions at a leadership level, we saw that there is a leadership to the development and maintenance of the optimal capital structure and financing strategy.  There is guidance to treasury and CEO on negotiations of terms for large debt and equity issues.  There is the communication of financing strategy to the EGD board and senior management.  There is the maintenance of banking, fixed-income credit agency and investment banking relationships, and there is contract negotiations for large debt and equity issues.  Annual financing plans in support of long-range plans.  The maintenance of contacts in the investment community, and also sort of the monitoring of how the company is perceived by stakeholders, amongst many other tasks.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  In your reply evidence, Mr. Baldauf, there was a discussion about flotation costs and I'm wondering if you could assist the Board in describing your understanding of what flotation costs or the flotation allowance is, when it is used, and what it is intended to capture.


MR. BALDAUF:  None of the services that we reviewed were covered by the flotation cost allowance.


We concluded that early in our process, and what we concluded during the consultative process was that EI and EGD did not specifically segregate any time spent on investor relations for the purposes of debt and/or equity, given the practical issues related to the audience that is related in some of these calls.


So our understanding of flotation costs are typically the costs that are required to have these particular issuance delivered to the marketplace.


MR. O'LEARY:  Are they costs that are internal or external to the issuer?


MR. BALDAUF:  They are external to the issuer.


MR. O'LEARY:  In respect of the service that is involved here, which is the capital-finance service and the issue of the costs that are the subject of the dispute, which relate to the raising of equity and capital, are we talking about costs which are internal or external to Enbridge Inc.?


MR. BALDAUF:  I believe they're external costs to Enbridge Inc. 


MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of the service that we're talking about?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  That is a flotation allowance, but in terms of the amount that we're looking to recover in rates?


MR. BALDAUF:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. BALDAUF:  I'm sorry, those are internal costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Such as the employees' salaries?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Then, Mr. Baldauf, do you have a view as to whether or not any of these internal costs are in fact recovered through the flotation allowance?


MR. BALDAUF:  From our analysis, we did not see that any of those costs were recovered.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, that is the evidence-in-chief.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take the lunch break at this point, and come back in an hour.  Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  Just perhaps to provide you with some expectations for this afternoon, it may be useful during your lunch. 


I am taking the lead on the cross-examination on behalf of the four parties who have co-sponsored Mr. Rosen, which are Energy Probe, CCC, VECC and ourselves.


Mr. Buonaguro may have some follow-up questions, but I will be doing the bulk of it.


I anticipate that I will be shorter than Mr. O'Leary was in his direct, but probably about an hour.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. DeROSE:  And then we would be looking to call 

Mr. Rosen, once that is complete.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:10 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 1:11 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  We probably should...


--- Off the record discussion.


MR. KAISER:  Before -- are we missing a witness?


MR. O'LEARY:  We are missing a witness and Mr. Burke.  I think we can answer a couple of the undertakings, at least in part, but I will wait for Mr. Burke.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  While we're waiting, Mr. O'Leary, you might know the answer to this.  What's in EI, other than the gas-distribution company?


MR. O'LEARY:  What other affiliates?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  What other economic activity, what other corporations?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Kishinchandani.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  There are multiple business units, one of them being the liquids pipeline, the Transportation South.  We have corporate --


MR. KAISER:  Which pipeline is that?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Liquids pipeline, Transportation South.


MR. KAISER:  Where does that pipeline run?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The liquids pipeline is basically the oil pipelines through the Alberta and BC areas, moving through the States, as well.


We have the international segment, which has investments in Spain and Columbia.  So these are some of the key segments for purposes of pulling out the information.  


MR. KAISER:  What are total assets of EI?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sorry, sir?


MR. KAISER:  The total assets of EI in dollar terms are what?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  $18 billion.


MR. KAISER:  What is the gas distribution company?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The gas distribution company, total assets is about $5.2 billion.


MR. KAISER:  So 5.2 out of the 18 billion is the gas distribution company?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Hmm-hmm, that's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And the shares that you are granting, the 200,000 shares that you spoke of that you are granting every year, those are shares in EI?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.


MR. KAISER:  They are granted by the human resources committee of the EI board?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.


MR. KAISER:  So to the extent that the justification for these shares, these options, is to give people an incentive to better operate the gas distribution company, that's only partially true, because less than a third of the value of these shares relates to the gas distribution company.  Is that a fair statement?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  But it does, yes, form a component of the overall EI family, yes.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  If I can add, certainly the composition of the compensation that's provided to EGD executives is to incent them to do the best that they can do from an EGD perspective.


So it's not tied to objectives that are based at the EI level.  They are incented to perform adequately to meet the needs of EGD.


MR. KAISER:  But to the extent the value of these shares go up, it may have nothing to do with the gas distribution company.  It could be because the pipeline company is profitable, or the investments in Spain or Bolivia are profitable; right?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Could be.


MR. KAISER:  I guess the fact of the matter is there are no publicly traded shares in the gas distribution company, anyway; is that right?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The gas distribution utility, yes, we have no publicly listed shares.


MR. KAISER:  So the only stock you could give anyone an option in anyway is the EI stock?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  Even though it doesn't correlate 100 percent with the operation of the gas distribution company?


Thank you.  Mr. DeRose, I think you're up to bat.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just some preliminary points.  First of all, my cross-examination, Mr. Chair, is proceeding on the presumption that the settlement agreement will be accepted.  I realize that that is presumptuous of us, but what I would propose, just from efficiency, that there is no point for me to cross-examine on issues that are currently awaiting your decision.


MR. KAISER:  I was going to speak to that.  I think that is a fair assumption.

Procedural Matters


MR. KAISER:  Just jumping ahead, if I can, to sort of procedural matters.  We were presuming, perhaps not correctly, that there might be written argument in this case.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, actually, my friends and I did speak about it, and on the assumption that we can complete all of the oral evidence today, we thought that might be the most prudent thing, and you release the parties and we could come up with a reasonable timetable for argument-in-chief, the intervenors' argument and any reply.


MR. KAISER:  What I was going to suggest, gentlemen, is that we would like to put some considered reasons in the decision with respect to the entire settlement agreement, just because it's a substantial one.


So we would propose, on the basis of those matters that are settled, to approve that settlement with reasons to follow.  Is that satisfactory?


MR. DeROSE:  Certainly it's satisfactory from my perspective.  My only concern was just to reserve rights if for some reason it was turned down.


MR. KAISER:  Of course.


MR. DeROSE:  The other thing, again, just on the point of written argument, we -- the intervenors that have co-sponsored Rosen & Associates have amongst ourselves agreed, or certainly we believe that we can submit a joint argument.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MR. DeROSE:  So you will only receive one argument from us.


We have also agreed that School Energy Coalition is the only party that's participating today that was not part of that joint retainer.


We will circulate our draft to Mr. DeVellis with the hope that he can adopt some or all of it.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MR. DeROSE:  So that will create some efficiencies.  Unless there is other further procedural issues, I would intend to proceed.


MR. KAISER:  No.  Go ahead.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, just -- there were some comments this morning to the effect that if there was a direction from this Board that the stock options should be cancelled or that intervenors -- there was an inference that intervenors were questioning the value of the stock-options program as perceived by the employees of Enbridge.  


I just want to let you know that as far as I know, no one will be arguing that Enbridge employees do not see a value in the stock options as a form of their compensation.


Our focus, rather, is -- it is a fairly narrow issue and it is this, and this is what my questions on the stock option issue will be focussed on, primarily:  is whether, for rate-making purposes, whether any costs are actually incurred by Enbridge Inc. in issuing those stock options that could be recovered for rate-making purposes.


Mr. O'Leary this morning has set out the two economic costs, that being dilution and that the treasury board could issue shares.  So it is a lost opportunity that but for the options being issued, that you could have issued further shares and be sold at full price as the two economic costs.


Our position will be that those are not costs that would normally be recoverable through rate-making purposes.


So the issue is on the cost side, not on the value of the stock options.


So that, I thought, would be useful just to let you know where we're coming from.


The other point is this, and I would like to start off with you, Mr. Baldauf.  Your original -- what's called your final report dated February 28, 2007, this is Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1.  You don't need to pull it up.  That was circulated to the entire consultative.  That was circulated in draft form to the entire consultative, including ratepayer groups, Rosen & Associates, Enbridge Gas Distribution and EI, correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  The final version and the five drafts that went out prior to that, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.  I don't think it is controversial that you received input from all of the parties?


MR. BALDAUF:  We did, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, if I can turn you to your reply.  This is dated September 14th, 2007.  It is the MNP reply to the preliminary report of Rosen & Associates Limited dated May 30th, 2007.  This is Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 2.  So this would have been issued about two weeks ago; correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  The reason I'm asking you this, there was a lot made of your independence and the independent report.  This report was not circulated to intervenor ratepayer groups, was it, in draft form?


MR. BALDAUF:  No, it wasn't.


MR. DeROSE:  And it wasn't circulated to Rosen & Associates in draft form for comment, was it?


MR. BALDAUF:  No, it wasn't.


MR. DeROSE:  Was it circulated to EGD?


MR. BALDAUF:  It was, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Was it circulated to EI?


MR. BALDAUF:  I don't believe so.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that your role in drafting this reply was different than your role in drafting the initial report, in terms of who you were taking comments from?


MR. BALDAUF:  I don't think that is completely fair, Mr. DeRose.  The engagement for the report, which was submitted and was part of the consultative, was, in our understanding, under the engagement around the report.


The engagement that we have around hearing preparation -- let's say anything post-report, so we would have had the preparation for the technical conference, we had working papers, we had the reply work and we had preparation and participation here -- was governed under an entirely different engagement, which was not, as I understand, part of the directive of the Board to include the consultative.


MR. DeROSE:  That was an engagement directly from Enbridge Gas Distribution to MNP, correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, it was.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you. 


Now, again, one more question for you, Mr. Baldauf:  You said this morning that you looked at the case law out there or the regulatory precedents with respect to stock options, and that, in your opinion they were inconclusive, I think was the term you used.  Do you recall that?


MR. BALDAUF:  I do, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you have a copy of -- it is Exhibit K17.2, it is called "Supplementary material for cross-examination"?


MR. BALDAUF:  I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair, I believe that you were to be provided with copies.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we have them, thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  This morning, the Chair asked if there was any regulatory precedents.  I would like to just take you to two, Mr. Baldauf. 


The first is at Tab 2.  This is a BC Gas Utility Limited, it's a 2003 application.  The decision is dated February 4th, 2003.


If I can take you -- you will see I have included the table of contents just to -- really for the benefit of the Panel, just to see that this was a full rates case.  If I can take you to Tab 13.


MR. BALDAUF:  Page 13?


MR. DeROSE:  Page 13, sorry.


MR. BALDAUF:  All right.


MR. DeROSE:  Under the heading "stock options", and I would just like to take you to the first paragraph, just to set out what they were dealing with here.  The third full sentence says:

"Stock options provide employees with the right to purchase the stock of the employer corporation at a stated price, either at a specified time or during some determinable period."


Can we agree that the stock options that we're dealing with in this case are stock options that provide EGD employees with the right to purchase the stock of EI, at a stated price over a specific period?  So we're dealing with a similar situation?


MR. BALDAUF:  I believe so, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Ms. Haberbusch, you can answer that as well.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, yes, it is.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then the next sentence goes on to say that:

"BC Gas stated that the cost of stock options, treated as an expense in the 2003 revenue requirement, is 2.6-million."  


That was the amount of money that was in play for the stock options in that case.


And then it goes on, in the last sentence:

"BC Gas submitted that stock options are an important element of compensation and that without stock options, the utility would be required to put the dollar value of the options into the fixed base pay, in order to be competitive at the median."


I interpret that to mean that if they don't have stock options, they have to pay a higher salary.  Is that the way that you would interpret that sentence, Mr. Baldauf?


MR. BALDAUF:  At first glance I would, Mr. DeRose.  However, I will caution there, that without the context of looking at the compensation plan in total, including, you know, short-term incentives and long-term incentives, I will agree with you there. 


But we would normally look at it a little bit further.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can have you turn to page 15, you will see in bold, it says:

"The commission rejects the recovery of the stock options from customers and directs that the 2.6 million be removed from the 2003 revenue requirement."


Do you see that?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Now when I read your material, I didn't see reference to this case in any of your material.  You didn't refer to this case, did you?


MR. BALDAUF:  No, we didn't.


MR. DeROSE:  Did you look at this case while you were preparing your initial report?


MR. BALDAUF:  No.  As I indicated this morning, we looked at details around stock-based compensation.  Because of the shortened timeframe that we had in our project, we looked at stock-based compensation and research more in preparation coming into the technical conference, and for this conference.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. BALDAUF:  As we said throughout the consultative, we said we would look at stock-based compensation from a perspective of the expense and/or cost, and how that is allocated between EI and EGD.  And it was -- I think as you will recall, Mr. DeRose, it was late in the consultative -- and I believe, subject to check, it was our December session where we were asked:  Could we look at some sort of regulatory precedent, to pull that together?


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Baldauf, I am simply asking.  You didn't look at this case when you prepared your report?


MR. BALDAUF:  No, we didn't.


MR. HOEY:  Mr. DeRose, I read this decision this morning, following the submission of your material, and I hadn't seen this before either, and knowing the issue that was at hand, I read this decision and I said:  Well, do I think it applies to the situation at hand? 


I had some concerns that this doesn't apply, and if I turn to page 13, the first full -- second full paragraph, the first comment in the first line says:

"The Commission is concerned that the executive compensation at BC Gas is so much higher than that of BC Hydro."


My understanding from the consultative, and from all of the reports from Rosen, is that that has not been a concern of any of the intervenors, and so that particular fact, that the Commission is concerned about, doesn't apply in this case.


Secondly, in the last full paragraph on that page, halfway down it starts talking about:

"However, after extensive questioning, BC Gas acknowledged that currently generally accepted accounting principles do not require that options be expensed as compensation, only that they be disclosed in notes to the financial statements."


Now, that particular fact that's in that case does not apply to EGD, because we do, in fact, expense them on our financial statements.


So those are two, I think, facts that are different and not consistent with what's currently in play here in Ontario.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Maybe, just to support Mr. Hoey's remarks, if you look at the previous page, page 12, under the section 4.1: "Compensation", the last line says:

"Intervenors' concerns focussed on compensation levels of executives and the incentive portion of compensation, particularly the stock options."


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Hoey or Ms. Haberbusch, you have both gone to the section which is "Executive pay", 4.1; starts on page 12.


You will see that the -- well, would you agree that the conclusion to that section is:

"While executive compensation will require ongoing review, the Commission does not believe that any further specific action is required for 2003."  


That is with respect to executive compensation; correct?


MR. HOEY:  Well, that is true that that is what it says in the bold, however, slightly above there, it says:

"While this matter is an ongoing concern, the Commission has not taken specific action in this decision to allocate the costs of stock options to shareholders, and that portion of the pension expenses on the bonuses to shareholders.  This reduces the ratepayer cost of executive compensation."


So, although they say they haven't done anything, there is -- in fact, you have to read the next section to see what they actually did to executive compensation.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would also submit that in that same -- on page twelve, under 4.1, it says that:

"Approximately 180 employees plus executives are eligible for stock options."


So that would suggest to me that it is not limited solely to executive compensation.


MR. DeROSE:  There is no doubt that there are differences, but how many executives in EGD receive options on a given year?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would be approximately 28 people.


MR. DeROSE:  So 28 people receive 200 thousand options a year?  Is that -- 


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That would be the total of options for all EGD employees.  Yes.  


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  When you say 200,000 are you talking just about the stock options that are at issue in this case, or are you talking about performance-based options and PUCs, et cetera?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The 200,000 is primarily -- subject to check, that is a stock-option number.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Let me take you to -- I want to just confirm on the record some numbers.  The first is at undertaking JT11.5.


This, I think it just provides the context of the amount that we are looking at in terms of RCAM costs that are associated with stock options.  What you have identified as the amount included in the 2000 RCAM settled numbers, which relates to stock option, is $1,592,449; is that correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  So that is -- well, I can move on to that.  If I can then take you to the next undertaking, JT11.6.


Before I ask you about this undertaking, can we agree, subject to check, that the amount related to the capital markets access service is $994,024, subject to check?  It would be in appendix D to the final MNP report for service number 5, which is the capital markets access.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Capital market financing access for 2006 is 681,000.


MR. DeROSE:  How much is it for investor services?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  994,000, approximately.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Sorry, I had it mixed up.  I had it 994,000 for capital markets access and 681,000 for -- I just had that switched.  So for a total of $1,695,270, when you combine both?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, in JT11.6 the question was whether MNP could break down the financing costs between equity and debt.  The reason is, as you are aware, no intervenors are taking issue with the debt component of those services.  It is only with the equity component of those services.  The answer says this at the bottom:

"The need to balance the debt and equity components of capital structure are equally important to EGD and it would be difficult to precisely measure a split in time between debt and equity."


I appreciate you can't do it with precision.  Are you able to estimate it so that there is a reasonable proxy between debt and equity?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I believe managing your capital is an exercise that contains balancing your debt and equity issuances.  You're looking at the whole thing as a combined piece.


Management of balance sheet really is an all-inclusive exercise.  I don't think you can piece out costs of managing your equity from your costs of managing your debt.  I don't think that would really be feasible or practical.


MR. DeROSE:  So it is really not possible to say that 30 or 40 or 50 percent of your time is spent servicing the equity side and the remainder the debt side?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  No, because the relationships that you maintain with the financial markets or the capital markets are -- those relationships come handy in both of those aspects.


MR. DeROSE:  Let me turn to the stock options, now.


First of all, panel, I take it you would agree that when you issue an option, the employee that is holding that option is not obligated to ever exercise it?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. DeROSE:  What I would like to do is - and I think Ms. Haberbusch is the person to do this, but you can let me know - I would like to just walk through the stock-option process.


Now you've already said this morning who you generally grant the stock options to.  When you issue or grant the stock options, how is the strike price determined?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's my understanding that the grant price is set based on the weighted average trading price of the share on the day of the grant.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you have said this morning that it's a four-year vesting period?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct, and that is equally over those four years, so 25 percent the first year, 50 percent vested the second year, 75 percent, and so on.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if you were to issue 20 options year 1, the employee could exercise five?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  At the end of year 1.


MR. DeROSE:  At the end of year 2, an additional five or the ten, if they haven't exercised it, et cetera?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  What happens if in year 2 they leave the company?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  If they voluntarily leave the company and those options are not vested, they lose those.  There is no value granted to them.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  What happens if they involuntarily leave the company?  Is it different?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would depend on the subject of --


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But if after the completion of year four they leave the company, I take it that they vested -- they can exercise those options any time over the remaining six years?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  Actually, if they leave the organization, if they have options that are vested but not yet exercised, they have 30 days in which to exercise those after their date of leaving.


MR. DeROSE:  If they stay with the company, they would then have ten years to exercise their options?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Ten years from the date of the stock option grant, or else then that is forfeited, as well, if they don't exercise them.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  I think both MNP and Rosen have said this.  I just want to make sure that EGD agrees with this, that the issuance of the option by EI does not result in an outlay of cash by EI.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The issuance -- if you could please repeat the question for me?


MR. DeROSE:  Does the issuance of the option result in any outlay of cash by EI?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  No.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, this morning Mr. O'Leary referred to dilution of the value per share.


I take it, again, these are quite simple propositions.  I want to make sure we're on the same page.  If you increase the shares, the value per share generally goes -- it goes down; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Correct, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  But if you increase the number of options, that does not necessarily mean that the value of the shares go down?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I would qualify that.  As you issue the options and they vest, the company does provide diluted -- a calculation showing what would be the dilutive effect of the vested options, and that is in the EI annual report, as well.


MR. DeROSE:  Correct, but it is a future contingency.  Until the option is exercised, there is no dilution, correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That's a fair statement.


MR. DeROSE:  So, for instance, if the employee leaves after year 2, there will be no dilution of some of the options that they were granted?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. DeROSE:  Correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That's correct.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Let's not forget, too, the purpose of issuing the stock options is to prevent them from leaving.  It is really a retention tool that hopefully will keep them there and that they will vest and they will exercise.


MR. DeROSE:  I have no doubt that that's -- we don't take issue with that being the goal.  


Let me put this question to you, Ms. Haberbusch.  Have you ever granted options to anyone that, after they received the options, they don't stick around for the entire four years?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  And in all fairness, people sometimes leave?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Certainly.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Can I just go back to something you said?  Did you say you calculated annually the dilution effect of granting these options?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is just a reporting requirement which is shown as a note to the financial statement.  So that is one of the requirements as per accounting guidelines.  There is a requirement to show the dilutive effect -- if these options, the vested options, how would they dilute the equity, so the earnings per share.


MR. KAISER:  In ballpark terms, what is the effect annually?  Pretty minuscule, I would imagine.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Very minuscule, absolutely.  On the Enbridge Inc. annual report, I think for 2004 and 2005, I think it was a penny reduction in the EPS; for 2006, it was nil.  So it is a very minuscule price.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, you have already said that when EI issues stock options, there is no outlay of cash.  Is there any incurrence of liability when EI issues the option?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sorry, I will have to request you to repeat that for me, please.


MR. DeROSE:  When EI issues the option, is there any incurrence of any liability?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  At the point of issue, basically an accounting transaction is just created, which is an increase in the equity of the –- well, through the contributed surplus, and an expense is charged to the financial statements.


But technically, as you would define a liability, no.  There is no increase in liability.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  There is no decrease of value in any assets when the option is issued?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Ordinarily, no.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then when the option is exercised and a share is issued, first of all, is there any outlay of cash at that time, by EI?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The opportunity cost of foregoing the -- receiving the value for the market price of the share, because what EI would receive for the issuance of that share would be the grant price or the exercise price.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  So the delta between the two will be an opportunity cost.


MR. DeROSE:  Other than that opportunity cost, is there any other outlay of cash?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  No.


MR. DeROSE:  And  -- Sorry, just for the record, you said "no"?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I did say "no", yes; that is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, I didn't hear you.  In fact, there would be an infusion of cash, would there not?  Because the person exercising the option would actually have to pay the strike price?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  But a lower infusion of cash than the market.  So really, from a fair market value basis of the stock, the – obviously, there is less cash flowing in than in a normal transaction, where the company could go and issue the share for a higher price.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Typically speaking, most of the times when stock options are exercised, the recipients of those, buy -- get the shares, purchase them and sell them in the same -- similar transaction.  So they don't usually buy and hold the stocks, so they're not necessarily paying out that amount and having it --


MR. DeROSE:  On that point, Ms. Haberbusch, when the employee exercises the option, they are the ones that pay the strike price; correct?  They pay the strike price?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  When they sell the share that they receive, whether it is in the same day or at some time later, at market price, it is the person -- it's the market, or the entity that buys their share on the public market that pays the market price?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  I believe that is true.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  EI does not pay the market price.  It is one of EI's new shareholders buys the share from the employee at market price?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Can I just follow up on your opportunity-cost concept?


The concept you were expressing is that on the date I grant an option, I could, as an alternative, sell that share to a member of the public and get hard cash.  But is that really the case?  Don't I need to go and do a securities underwriting, and all of that, to sell shares to the public?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes, from a procedural perspective, definitely.  But from the perspective of an opportunity cost, if there is -- well, there are two stages, right.  One is the issue date, the grant date, where the grant price is the market price, presumably.  It is at the date of the exercise of the option that the market price presumably has changed, because the employee would only exercise the option given that the market price is higher.  


If I understood your point correctly, you're saying: for the company to sell those shares outside in the market, they would have to be a larger process to be gone through.  Agreed; but theoretically speaking, presuming as all of the stock options, or the shares which are subject matter of the stock option, could be issued at a particular point in time, there would be an opportunity cost.  But, yes, from a mechanics perspective, definitely.  The company would not go out every month or every two months. 


MR. KAISER:  You're not going to issue 200,000 shares to the public every year?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I accept that. 


MR. KAISER:  You wouldn't do that.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.


MR. DeROSE:  If I can just follow up on that.  First of all can you confirm -- my understanding is that EI has no limitation on the number of shares that they are entitled to issue? 


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct, to the best of my understanding.


MR. DeROSE:  So you were talking theoretically.  Enbridge Inc. could, if they so chose, issue shares every month.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And the lost opportunity that you are talking about:  Isn't it only the lost opportunity to sell a share to that employee at full value?  And I will -- the look on your face suggests I should explain it:  That you have an option that you issue to an employee.  They exercise it at the strike price.


As I understand it, you're saying you're losing the opportunity to sell it at full price to somebody out in the market.


Now, you could, in theory -- if there are people out in the market that want your shares -- issue them at full price, on the exact same day that your employees exercise their options; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And so I guess from my simple approach, the only thing that you are losing is the -- if the option had not been issued to that employee, and that employee was going to go out and buy the share at full price.  They're getting it at a discount.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.  And that is the benefit that is trying to be conferred on the employee.


MR. DeROSE:  So when you talk about lost opportunity, that is the lost opportunity you're talking about?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Well, the lost opportunity, primarily I was referring to it in the context of the company; the cash that is made available to the company is a lower amount, as opposed to a higher amount.


Correspondingly, that is a benefit to the employee, but that is a separate thing.  From the perspective of the company's cash coffers, they received a lower amount than what they would have received, other things being equal.


MR. DeROSE:  But nothing is stopping the company from going out and issuing shares at full market value and selling them; is it?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.  They could do that, and potentially pay the employee the cash compensation that would -- whatever was considered as the fair cash compensation to substitute for a stock option.


MR. DeROSE:  Actually, that wasn't my question.  I think what my question was -- there is nothing stopping EI from issuing stock options, having them exercised on the exact same day that they issue shares to the market, that are also sold at full value.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.  But that would have a further dilutive effect.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now in terms of the dilutive effect, if an option is exercised, thereby lowering the value per share, so there is dilution, it is the shareholders of EI that are having their –- the value of their shares diluted.  Not EI.  Is that fair?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That's a fair comment.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Haberbusch, last night I wrote down three situations where employees may not exercise the options that they're granted, and I would like to give them to you, and see if you agree or disagree.


The first is:  If the market price goes below the strike price, they aren't going to be exercised.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That would be a reasonable assumption.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If the employees leave before the end of the vesting period -- you and I have already covered that -- they would forfeit some of their options.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And because the -- and the third is this:  Employees -- it is in their discretion whether to exercise them or not; an employee can choose not to exercise them or simply fail to, out of their own negligence?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's a possibility.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if the options are not exercised for any of those reasons, but you are compensated this year for issuing those options, are you not being compensated for a future contingency that doesn't occur?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I'm just going to give my understanding at least of Black-Scholes.  My understanding of the Black-Scholes methodology is that there is a forfeit portion of the calculation done, and they're based upon past experience.


So in terms of how you value how much the stock options are this year, it is based upon that you're assuming that those certain situations are going to occur, at least in the same pattern of history.  So really it comes down to forecasting error, which is no different than any other forecasting error that occurs within the company in terms of costs.


The alternative is that there could be even more people take the shares than what were estimated, in terms of the cost, and, therefore, there is a greater cost to the company.


So all of those situations occur.


MR. DeROSE:  There would be overs and unders?


MR. HOEY:  There is overs and unders, yes.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure that would be any different than any other incentive plan, like the short-term plan, as well, which is -- we get approval to recover at target, assuming that the plan pays out.  Sometimes you do better.  Sometimes the company doesn't meet those objectives.  


So I think it is -- to Mr. Hoey's point, it is an estimation that sometimes it will be over and sometimes it will be under.


MR. DeROSE:  I take it that you don't track what you're being compensated for in a given year versus -- well, I guess you haven't been compensated long enough to track it out ten years, but do you track how many options are exercised as opposed to how many Black-Scholes would compensate you for? 


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That information is available.  Basically, the corporate office does track the total options granted, options vested, and the ones that are currently valid and exercisable.  That is all part of the EI annual report wherein they do provide that breakdown, but that is at a global basis.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Sorry, when you say "a global basis", that is just for EI-wide?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  EI-wide, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  I take it that there wouldn't be -- I have the annual report.  I take it that there is nothing that would be EGD specific?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  No, there would not.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  The 200,000 shares, those are just shares granted to EGD employees?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is correct.


MR. KAISER:  I assume there are options given to the people that run the liquids pipeline --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  -- and operations in Spain, et cetera.  But what are the total number of options that EI grants each year?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I should be able to provide you with that in a moment.


In 2006 there were about 1.6 million options granted across Enbridge family.  200,000 of those were EGD-related.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair.  Ms. Haberbusch, at paragraph 8 of your supplementary evidence - this is Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 2 of 3.


This is consistent with what you gave evidence on this morning:

"Stock options are an important component in the design of competitive compensation and are necessary in order to attract and retain the senior talent required to ensure the successful operation of the business."


I take it the reason -- well, would you agree that the reason that stock options are such an important component in the design of competitive compensation is that employees have a perceived value in those stock options?  They view them as valuable?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And that does not necessarily mean, though, that there is a corresponding cost, that the value -- that the perceived value to employees is the same as the actual cost to EI of issuing those shares; is that fair?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  If you're asking me from a financial-accounting perspective, I will defer to my colleague, Mr. Kishinchandani.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. HABERBUSCH:  My colleague has just advised me that if the question you're asking is whether an employee views those as a valuable component of their compensation and would view that negatively if they no longer had that value; absolutely.


MR. DeROSE:  It wasn't completely my question, but I will take that answer.


Let me try it a different way.  Let me break it down a little bit.  


From an employee perspective, the importance of compensation is how they value it, and so there would be a base salary, and then there would be the stock options.  So if there is a perceived value from the perspective of the employees that stock options are valuable, that is an important component of compensation?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Absolutely.  They would perceive them as valuable, I think with the expectation that they will have tangible value, as well, in that they're expecting to receive some dollar value with those.


MR. DeROSE:  I think, in fairness, they certainly would be hopeful; is that fair?  You don't guarantee that the shares will go up?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  There is no guarantee, of course, but I think most employees would look at the historic pattern of stock appreciation and would assume some value will be coming to them when they exercise those shares, all things being equal, unless something untoward occurred.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, with respect to rate setting - and I suspect this is Mr. Hoey - can we agree that rates are not set on the perceived value of services or the value of services as perceived by employees, but on the cost of the services provided?


MR. HOEY:  Well, if you're talking about revenue requirement, the revenue requirement typically does have the costs of the company, and that is all of the costs of the company included for recovery.  If you're asking, though, if it is because there's no cost to the company, EGD, are there costs recovered in rates, then the answer is yes.  Depreciation is one of the largest expenses in revenue requirement, and there is no cash -- there is no cash requirement of the company for depreciation.  Yet we still recover that in rates, as what I will call an equivalent type of analysis to this, what you're saying here.


There is a value assessed to depreciation.  It is recovered in rates, and -- but there is no cash outlay by the company, and, therefore, there is -- but it is still recovered in rates by the ratepayers -- from the ratepayers.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Hoey, isn't there an original cash outlay that you are then depreciating?


MR. HOEY:  There is an original cash outlay, that's correct, in the capital.


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.


MR. HOEY:  That's right.


MR. DeROSE:  That's what you're depreciating.  There is a cash outlay associated with depreciation.  It just happened a number of years before?


MR. HOEY:  Well, that's true and we -- yes.  I don't disagree with you.


MR. DeROSE:  Let me give you this example.


When you increase an employee's salary, so, for instance, if you increased the salary by $10,000, I would submit that the value of that increase, being $10,000, to the employee and the cost to the company of having to pay $10,000 more are the same?  Can we agree on that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  So there's symmetry in that circumstance.


When you issue a stock option, the value, as perceived by the employees, is not necessarily the same as the actual cost to EI, because there is no cash outlay?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I would agree with you from a rate-making perspective.


However, I would also say, from the company's perspective, if we took your scenario to its logical conclusion, from what I got from your opening remark, the intervenors are not suggesting that there isn't a value to the stock options and that there is a benefit to ratepayers because of it.  


I maybe overstating that, but that is what I interpret that to mean.


However, what you're suggesting is that the shareholders should somehow pay for all of this, and therefore a value has been transferred to the ratepayers, but they get it for no cost, and that the shareholders are going to continue to absorb that cost.


If there are other compensation vehicles where there is a cash outlay or some other way to get full recovery through rates for that cost of compensation, then I would suggest that ultimately the shareholder will suggest that there will be an alternative compensation structure so that there is full recovery through the rate structure.  


Otherwise, they're going to stop -- there is no reason for them to continue to pay for something when -- the shareholders continue to pay something, to give value to the ratepayers.  


MR. DeROSE:  When you talk about the shareholder, are you talking about EI --


MR. HOEY:  No, I am talking about a shareholder, I as the owner of the share.  I am the owner of the share and I am going to get a diluted share otherwise, and I am not going to get any compensation back for it.  Yet I am giving you value for it.


MR. KAISER:  Let's assume the dilution is minimal, as we've heard. The shareholder get the profits of the company.


MR. HOEY:  If there are some, yes.


MR. KAISER:  The ratepayer doesn't get the profits.


MR. HOEY:  No, that's true; but the just and reasonable rates are to allow the company to get a profit.  But there is no other -- the profit is -- my understanding of the ROE mechanism, it is a just and reasonable rate based upon a formula, and there is nothing in there that compensates the company or the shareholder for the dilution of the share.


MR. KAISER:  I understand that, but the dilution is minimal.  Your argument -- 


MR. HOEY:  It's still dollars out of his pocket, in total aggregate.


MR. KAISER:  It's a cent out of his pocket.


MR. HOEY:  Well --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  A cent of EPS, or earnings per share --


MR. KAISER:  Those are the shares.


MR. HOEY:  Of earnings per share, times 12 times earnings, 12 to 20 times earnings, and you start multiplying it out.


MR. KAISER:  But my point is: the shareholder does get a benefit that the ratepayer doesn't.


If these incentives, stock options, are meant to make people work harder and have the company enjoy greater profits -- which presumably is the idea -- the profits go to the shareholder.


MR. HOEY:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  Not the ratepayer at all.


MR. HOEY:  Well, no.  There are benefits that go to the ratepayer, because --


MR. KAISER:  Maybe, but it is not the profits of the company.


MR. HOEY:  No, that's true; but the profits of the company provide a stable and financial company, provides proper credit ratings that -- if you took all of that away and you didn't do that -- then let's say the credit rating dropped of the company, that will translate into a higher debt cost, which is -- which would translate into higher rates for ratepayers, under the formula.  You can't separate where the benefit is.  


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Hoey, we're talking about, for 2006, $1.5-million.  Is it your evidence that if $1.5-million were not approved by the Board, that that would affect the credit rating of EI, a $15-billion company?


MR. HOEY:  No, I wasn't suggesting that at all.  What I was suggesting is that, if the Board were not to approve the 1.5, yet are providing other long-term incentive plans such as performance stock-based options and restricted share units, that are -- because they're cash compensation, then it would make logical sense for the long-term shareholder to suggest that for the regulated portion of the company, to change the options and give the equivalent value back in restricted share units or performance share units, because all we're talking about is because it's not a cash outlay.  


The same costs would then come back, and the same value would come back to the shareholder and all parties.


MR. DeROSE:  So if this Board --


MR. HOEY:  It's a transfer of value.


MR. DeROSE:  If this Board found, as a matter of fact, that you have a cost-free form of compensation, or a form of compensation which the dilution is minimal, and that you shouldn't be compensated for it in your RCAM, that you would expect the result is to go out and find a different form of compensation that you could pass through?


MR. HOEY:  Well, my understanding is that the intervenors -- right now, as of today, my understanding at Enbridge -- is that there has been no question about the compensation or the recovery of stock-option costs in any prior years.  So that's already included in rates.


So this would be going forward.  If we were going to change the plan -- and my understanding from the evidence today is that there is no issue with restricted share units, because there is a cash compensation -- why would the shareholder not suggest to the management: Well, for regulatory purposes, give them restricted share units and no options.  At least I, I as a shareholder, don't have to pay for that value that is passed on to ratepayers.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Maybe I can add to that.  If the question is:  Could the Board approve stock options if they weren't recoverable in rates?  I think the answer is: yes, of course they would have the authority to do that.


But I would question why they would.  The board of directors has oversight for all of the utility operations, and I would assume they have a reasonable working understanding of regulatory process in that regard.  And I think they would understand that the prudent and reasonable costs that are associated with operating the utility are fully recoverable in rates.


So if suddenly one element of that compensation was no longer recoverable, I would think they would direct the company to rebalance those other elements to maintain market positioning and to maintain the ability to fully recover those costs in rates, as they expect us to be able to do.


MR. DeROSE:  So they would find another form, another manner in which to flow additional costs through to the ratepayers?  That's really what you're getting at?  


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, I would think they would still expect to be able to maintain prudent and reasonable costs, as they have in the past and as are fully allowed.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Can I just go back?  I don't want to beat this, but we're talking about -- you're talking about the shareholder incurring a cost.


This 1.6-million, it is not a cash cost.


MR. HOEY:  No.  But it is an expense on the financial statements.

Questions from the Board 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Chair.  To what extent is the formulaic approach taken, looking at the historic -- you mentioned earlier the Black-Sholes methodology.


Is that 1.6 a mix of projection and historic?  Or, I haven't looked at the formula in detail --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Well, Black-Scholes basically takes into account some of the key assumptions in terms of the option term, the expected volatility in the price of the stock, the expected dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rates.  So it brings these parameters together in a formulaic approach, and provides a value to the option on the date of the grant.  And that is set in stone, and that is the value that is used, irrespective of future market conditions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is forward-looking, but it is using some empirical evidence to come up with those findings?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  This reason this cost is on the balance sheet -- I'm not an accountant -- is on the financial statements, isn't because it is affects profits, because it doesn't directly.  It is to let the investor know that the company has been granting stock options, and there is a dilutive cost.  Is that fair?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That is fair, sir; from a disclosure perspective, yes. There is --


MR. KAISER:  It is strictly a securities issue, in the sense of letting investors be informed as to what the company is doing, because if a company went nuts, as Microsoft did in their early days, before they required this kind of reporting -- and had options all the way out there, investors that were paying cash needed to be aware that these options were going to come home to roost, and they would have an effect on the value of the shares that they had purchased for cash.  That was the concern.


MR. HOEY:  Absolutely.  It would also have the same effect -- I mean, if you issued -- if you said to all of the employees that you don't get any salary, you get just 100 percent stock options, then what happens is, of course, your income is going to go up, because you have no expense.  So the stock looks like -- the company looks like it is earning more than what it actually is, and it may increase the stock price higher; and of course, then, as you say, it will come home to roost very quickly.


MR. KAISER:  Explain to me again -- because there is now made a suggestion that if the Board were to disallow these types of options, the company might move to these restricted shares.  I asked the question earlier, and was told the reason that the intervenors don't object to those is because there is a cash cost.


Tell me exactly what a restricted share is.  I don't understand that.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  A restricted share, basically, is a notional share price issue, a share issuance at a notional value, and it says "three years hence, whatever the price is".  So, for example, an employee is granted, let's say, 50 shares on the grant date.


Three years hence, whatever the market value of those shares is, will be just multiplied by the market price and paid out, and a cheque will be written out to the employee.


MR. KAISER:  Would it be fair to say it is exactly the same concept, except I don't need to buy a piece of paper and sell that piece of paper in order to realize the gain?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  From a technical point of view, except that my understanding is -- and Narin can correct me -- is that a restricted share unit is always viewed as income.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's always treated as income. 


MR. HOEY:  It's always viewed as income; a stock option can be viewed as capital gain, because if you hold it for a year, you can get the grant.  Then you hold the share for a year, then after the vesting period, then you get -- then you can claim it as capital gain for tax purposes.


So there is personal tax options that are available to employees with stock options relative to restricted share units.


MR. KAISER:  I.e., greater tax benefits?


MR. HOEY:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Why do you offer restricted shares, anyway?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well -- do you want to --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Well, restricted shares were -- with stock option accounting being one of the reasons, obviously there was -- there has been a lot more visibility of stock options in the recent years, and the general move and the expectation is that employees prefer -- and, Jane, correct me if I'm wrong -- there is more certainty attached to restricted stock units, in the sense that you're getting the value of the stock.  


So even if it goes below the exercise price, you will still get the payout.  So if I was issued an RSU at $35 and three years hence it is at $30, I would still get the $30 value for it; whereas if it was an option, I would get zero, because it was underwater.


MR. KAISER:  So it is sort of like a deferred payment plus.  There may be a plus --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Potential for appreciation.


MR. KAISER:  But you are going to get the cash, at least the base amount of the cash --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  -- is guaranteed?  So as I understand it, it is better than a stock option?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  In many ways.


MR. KAISER:  You could lose on a stock option.  You would never lose with Enbridge, of course, but you could lose with some companies.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right, but from a tax --


MR. HOEY:  You might gain.  I don't know about lose.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  From a taxation perspective, obviously the RSU payout is a lot more punitive for the employee.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  And the term is shorter, as well.  It is paid out at the three-year mark.  The individual doesn't have the option to defer that payment.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, let me turn very briefly to the capital markets financing and access investor services issue.


As I said -- well, the focus of the intervenor concern on this particular issue is on the equity side, not on the debt side.


Panel, could you provide a description to the Board of the services that are provided under these two headings that relate to equity?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I would like to start by saying that -- just extending on my comment earlier, that really you cannot isolate debt from equity.  It is a combined activity that is -- it's a combined function.


There is the need for balancing the debt and equity.  There are debt issuances and there are equity issuances.  That is all part of the treasury function as it would operate.


But the need, obviously, is that with the company that is continuously growing, spending $300-plus-million in capital expenditures year after year after year, and obviously there is always the need to go to the capital markets.


One of the other pieces I would like to lay out here, and that corresponds to Brad Boyle's testimony earlier, although that is more on cash management and banking piece, is the amount of cash that we collect from our 1.8 million customers can range anywhere between $2 million a day to $20 million.


So with the kind of cash that flows in and the amount of capital expenditures that we incur, there is great need for an active treasury department and the fact -- a department that can appropriately anticipate these expenditures and be able to, you know, plan for these activities appropriately through debt or equity issuance.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, in terms of -- you do understand that the intervenors are not asking you to abolish your treasury department; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I'm sorry?


MR. DeROSE:  You understand that the intervenors are not asking you to abolish EI's treasury department?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.


MR. DeROSE:  In terms of the services that -- let me tell you some of the services that I would think would be included in the equity component of those services.


First of all, would they provide ongoing reporting to EI's investors?  Would that be part of the services that are provided?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  To the Enbridge investors at large, yes.  There is a relationship aspect with the banks and the financial institutions.  So there is a lot of -- yes, there is that information dissemination piece, which is maintaining relationships with credit-rating agencies, absolutely, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, sorry to interrupt my friend, but just in terms of this particular area of cross-examination, just so we understand what the issue is, is that in last year's decision there was some reference to whether or not there were included in the service, inappropriate activities, activities that perhaps were there to mind the investment.


The question that is here in this proceeding is whether or not those have been removed from it.  So I am just asking whether or not my friend is referring to whether or not the services that are in the current RCAM that are part of the amount that is included in the $18.1 million relate to services that benefit EGD; or are you referring to the general services of the treasury that relate to all the EI family?  Because that was certainly not the intent of the RCAM, it was to only allocate those that relate to EGD.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, the question that has been agreed to in the settlement agreement is:  Are the costs related to obtaining and maintaining equity capital by Enbridge Inc. appropriately recoverable from ratepayers through the RCAM?


The question I asked was:  Does Enbridge Inc. -- and I assume this would be maintaining equity capital -- are one of their services reporting to their investors?  That to me would be maintaining equity capital.  I guess I don't understand where the question is inappropriate.


MR. O'LEARY:  If you're asking a question about whether or not Enbridge Inc. treasury does things that are for the benefit of the overall investment, the answer is yes.  But is this -- in this proceeding, is the company asking for recovery in respect of activities like that?  The answer is no.


So if you asked Mr. Kishinchandani questions about generally what do they do, he will answer them.  But I am just suggesting to you that the appropriate line of questions is to ask:  What are the activities for which recovery is sought in this proceeding?


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I will put the question to you, panel.


When Enbridge Inc. provides ongoing reporting and to maintain the relationships with, as you've said, banking institutions, financial institutions, credit companies, are any of the costs associated with that activity in any way flowed through to EGD?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  It is the employee costs at the Enbridge office for doing those activities which would flow through some of the service schedules, if there is time spent directly for EGD.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, let me ask you some questions about that, then.  EI is a publicly-traded company; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  When EI wants to raise capital from the public, sometimes EI will raise capital from the public markets; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. DeROSE:  They will go out to the public markets to financial institutions and they will have an offering; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, when it is raising capital, does EI go out and specifically say, We are raising capital for EGD, or does it go out and say, We are raising capital for EI?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I am not privy to those discussions, but I would -- well, as an entity, Enbridge Inc., potentially, they would be going out and raising capital as EI, I would expect.


MR. DeROSE:  My expectation would be that EI raises money for EI.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  For all of its business units together.


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.  Then once that capital is raised, it will then decide which of its business units it will infuse with those funds; is that fair?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I would not want to speculate on that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  When you issue a prospectus, I suppose it usually says what the use of the -- or the reason you're raising the funds and what the funds are going to be used for, doesn't it?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.  The prospectus would state that.


MR. KAISER:  I mean, if you did a public offering at the EI level and you needed to use all of it to repair the distribution system in the City of Toronto, I mean, you would say so in the prospectus, I presume?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, but the prospectus also may say for other ongoing general business uses, and what I was going to say is one of the general ongoing business uses that any equity issuance from EI would be that it has to maintain its undertaking requirements that it fund EGD at a 36 percent level now.  It used to be 35, but that they are -- that they, as the shareholders, must put 36 percent of the total rate base -- must be funded at a capital -- at an equity level.  It's a requirement.


So that will be what I would call an ongoing business requirement.  And every year, as Narin said, when you do $100 million worth of capital, we're going to need $108 million worth of new capital -- of new equity will have to be put into the company, effectively.


MR. KAISER:  I didn't understand your earlier answer to Mr. DeRose.  He asked you, I thought, when you are engaging in all of this relationship reporting to banks and investment brokers and all of that activity, which is required on an ongoing basis in order to support your existing financial instruments and raise capital, he asked you: did any of those charges, any of those costs, get put through to the distribution company.  Was the answer yes or no?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The answer is yes, portions of those costs would flow through; to the extent time was expended relating to EGD, there would be a direct --


MR. KAISER:  Somebody keeps track in some ledger --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That was one of the --


MR. KAISER:  That this call relates to EGD, this call relates to Bolivia, or what?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Mr. Chair, as part of the RCAM improvements, one of the requirements under the RCAM methodology is for the corporate office to track, on a backward-looking, quarterly basis, their time estimates of what -- where did they expend their time.  So that forms the basis of the distribution of the costs.


MR. KAISER:  Wouldn't it be simpler just to figure out, on an average, what portion of the capital raised goes to the distribution company, and allocate it that way?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Right.  And that is done for the costs that are not -- which do not lend themselves to be directly attributable based on time.  So, then the FCER -- which is the financial capital employed ratio -- would be used as a basis.


MR. HOEY:  Just so you're clear, last year when we talked about RCAM, that was one of the improvements.


So what the people in Calgary do is they will mark down their time, how much is spent on EGD, how much is spent on pipelines, how much is spent on transportation; so what I will call the major big areas. 


And then there is going to be some time left over that -- I'm equally doing it for all of the parties, then when they determine that -- when that time -- then you go to, as you say, that kind of divisible thing based upon the overall ratios.


So it is the leftover.  It is the -- what we call indivisible time, that only gets divided on that basis.  Otherwise it is really based upon discussions on particular business units.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So if that is seen as an improvement, I take it up to this point it was all done on an allocation basis?


MR. HOEY:  Right, right.


MR. BALDAUF:  Mr. Chair, if I can just add to that.  If you look at page 25 of appendix D, the cost breakdown for capital --  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you turn your microphone on? Sorry.


MR. BALDAUF:  If I could just add to Mr. Hoey's comment, there is a cost breakdown that shows -- 


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Baldauf, if I could just -- the Panel needs to turn it up.  It is Exhibit D2, Tab 1, schedule 1.  It is appendix D to the MNP report.  


These are the service schedules, and the one that 

Mr. Baldauf is taking you to, sir, is the one that relates to capital market financing and access.  It is page 25 of appendix D.


MR. KAISER:  This is in the original MNP report?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  What page?


MR. BALDAUF:  Appendix D, page 25.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, can we offer you a copy?


MR. KAISER:  Maybe you can.  I don't have any tabs in this thing.


MR. O'LEARY:  It's a long --


MR. BALDAUF:  So, to comment further on Mr. Hoey's point, and Mr. Quesnelle, to your point.


This is now the approach that the new RCAM model takes to allocate costs.


So if you look at the total primary service cost for this particular service -- capital markets and financing, as in column A on the left -- there is then an allocation of time directly attributed to EGD of about 14 percent.


From there, applying a number of different cost allocations, you can see exactly what that number, then, comes out to for EGD.


So there is -- column C is A times B, so 4.28-million times 14 percent gives you about $600,000.  Other affiliates then use about $3-million of that service.


The common cost that is applied to all of the affiliates is about -- just about $600,000.  


Applying the allocator that Mr. Kishinchandani mentioned, and then allocating that percentage, you get sort of a common cost allocation, which then altogether, all totalled give you a total cost allocated to EGD of approximately $717,000.


This was the methodology that we used to -- that we applied to all of our analysis, to sort of distribute and really begin to assess if the costs for these particular services for EGD were reasonable.


I think earlier we said -- was it 12 percent, was the number of sort of the capital portion that was attributed to EGD, in terms of the total asset of the firm?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Five million.


MR. BALDAUF:  Is it five?  Sorry.


There was another number earlier.  I can't remember which one it was.


MR. HOEY:  It used to be this number.


MR. BALDAUF:  It used to be that number, that's right.  


But this is then, so one of the comments in the directive last year for improvement of the RCAM was to have additional buckets to allocate some of these costs, and so that is what has happened now.  You have gotten to what we think is a more exact or more precise allocation of some of these costs across all of the affiliates.


MR. KAISER:  What is it that the intervenors are opposing with respect to this page?


MR. BALDAUF:  I don't know.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps I can just ask a few questions?  I am about four questions away --


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. DeROSE:  And I hope it is answered at the end of it.  Mr. Baldauf, can I take you to page 24 of appendix D.  You will see at the bottom it says "response"?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And you say:

"Furthermore, in MNP's opinion, EGD's return on equity does not include an allowance for corporate service costs related to attracting equity financing."


Do you see that?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, you know that EI owns 100 percent of the EGD's share capital, correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  I do, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And so when you say:  "does not include an allowance for corporate service costs related to attracting equity financing", you are not talking about equity financing needed by EGD, but it is the equity financing of EI, some of which may flow through to EGD at some point.


MR. BALDAUF:  I'm trying to remember, Mr. DeRose, all of the elements involved in that analysis.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, your last sentence: "allowance for corporate service costs related to attracting equity financing".  Are the corporate service costs that we're discussing -- that relates to EI attracting equity financing; correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  I think so, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Panel, can you confirm that that is correct?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, that would be EI attracting capital, on behalf of EGD.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then it goes on, Mr. Baldauf:

"The allowed ROE compensates EI as a shareholder for use of capital."


Then you go on:

"The ROE is not a function of the investor relations activities undertaken to keep analysts and investors informed."


Now, again, when we talk -- when you talk about "investor relations undertaken to keep analysts and investors informed" -- because you're talking about analysts and investors informed of EI's financial shape, how EI is doing.  Correct?


MR. BALDAUF:  Well, from our analysis, Mr. DeRose, as we probed into this particular question, we heard continually that the EI family, and the attraction of equity for it, would be incomplete without a story of what's going on with EGD, given the large percentage of capital required there.


So when we looked at it and saw that -- looked at the activity, we saw that it was related.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, Mr. Baldauf, or panel, can we agree that EI's investor-relations activities, with analysts and investors, are investor relations related to not just EGD, but all of EI's various components; everything that EI does is what EI has to go out and tell the investor community about?


MR. HOEY:  That would be true, but there are certain times when investor relations and the treasury will only talk to the banking community or the financial markets just because of something that has happened at EGD.  Specifically, I know whenever a board issues a major decision, at 4:30 I'm on the phone to Calgary, so they can be ready to brief the financial community on what has happened at EGD and the Board's decision. 


So, yes, there are things where they do as a general bucket, but there are things that they do specifically to EGD.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough, that EI, because it owns all of EGD, is going to be very interested in what is happening in EGD, and that is going to be part of what EI tells to the investor community.


Now, when EI goes out and does a public issuance, if one of the financial institutions buys a large block of those shares, can we agree that that financial institution would have to go out and find its own investors?  It would have its own investor relations going out to explain about how good EI is and why this is a good investment?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  The investors relation of the investing institution, is that --


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Potentially, yes.  The one thing, Mr. DeRose, I would just like to circle back to is the fact that let's not lose sight of the fact that EGD also has debt externally issued in its own right.


So I know you are basically working on the equity line of things, but from an investor-relation perspective, EGD in its own right has $2.2 billion of debt sitting out there.  So there are investors who are directly looking at EGD in isolation, as well.  It is not just --


MR. DeROSE:  I don't think anyone takes issue with the fact that EI has to explain to the investor community what is going on in all of its units.


But you agreed with me on my last point, that if they issue a block of shares to a financial institution, that financial institution, it is reasonable they have to go out and they sell those shares to individual investors.  So they have their own investor relations.  They have to go out and they have to sell EI.  They need information from EI; correct?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  EI doesn't compensate that financial institution for that financial institution's investor relations, do they?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  But their motives would be different.  They're in business for a different reason.  That is a different relationship.


I don't think that is a fair analogy to draw to here.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I take it, is that a "no"?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I take it as a -- well, from the perspective of what the investing institution does and how they administer their affairs, I don't think we want to bring that into the picture, because really we're looking at a service provision from Enbridge Inc. to EGD, you know, as a service recipient and service provider.  That is an investor --


MR. DeROSE:  I guess we see things differently, because EI is an investor in EGD, the same way as a bank would be an investor in EI.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I appreciate --


MR. DeROSE:  If EGD should be paying EI for EI's investor relations with the banks, why wouldn't EI pay the banks for their investor relations?  Why wouldn't you just keep flowing it down?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I guess the crux of this is that if EGD was a stand-alone company, it would have to do its own investor relations to give people interested -- and in this particular case, what we have done is sent it out to Calgary and they do it on behalf of us, and we get the benefits of that, of being part of a larger group.


It also gives us the benefits of maybe potentially getting a lower debt-equity ratio, maybe getting better equity financing cost, lower flotation costs, all of those things that are valuable at that level.


So it is just a question of who, where do you want to have it?  And the whole premise was, Well, as a stand-alone utility, we would still need equity and we would still need debt.  And that is no different whether EI holds us or whether we're on own publicly-owned shares itself.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other parties have questions for this panel?  Mr. Millar, anything?  Mr. O'Leary, anything in reply?

Re-Examination by Mr. O'Leary


MR. O'LEARY:  A couple of matters, sir.  Mr. Baldauf, can I ask you if you are aware of any commercial bank in Canada whose rates are set by a cost-of-service, regulation-type proceeding?


MR. BALDAUF:  No, sir.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  If I could then turn you back to schedule D, which is the service schedule for this particular service, if I could turn you to page 22.


We looked at prong 1.  The second line in the lightly shaded portion under prong 1, it says "cost incurrence review".  It says: 

"Costs will not pass this test if they relate to activities which go beyond the scope of the service required for a utility."


You agree with me that this is part of the three-prong test that is required by the Board; right?


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes, it is.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is known -- this is the needs test?


MR. BALDAUF:  It is, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Did you examine whether or not Enbridge Gas Distribution required or needed the services that are being provided by EI in respect of the attraction and retention of equity capital?


MR. BALDAUF:  It was part of the analysis for every service that we carried out.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And your results of your analysis was?


MR. BALDAUF:  That, as we concluded in that particular section, MNP's analysis -- and this is -- I'm sorry, this is appendix D, page 22:

"It is the opinion of MNP that the charges occurred by EGD for this support are prudent and the associated level of services would be required by a stand-alone utility.  MNP's analysis concluded that EGD does not have the capacity or capability to provide this service in-house."


It goes on to explain the nature of the service, and we conclude on the next page, page 23, at the bottom of the first box:

"It is the opinion of MNP that the charges pass the cost-incurrence test for services required by Ontario ratepayers."


MR. O'LEARY:  If we skip down to prong 3 on that same page, it says "cost benefit review", and the third test of the three-prong test is that:

"The benefits to the company's Ontario ratepayers equal or exceed the cost."


MR. BALDAUF:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Did you perform an analysis and what was your conclusion?


MR. BALDAUF:  We did.  We performed an analysis basing -- you know, we created a structure that we thought would support this type of service or these type of requirements, based on the need exhibited through our discussion in prong 1.


We came up with a cost estimate for a similar department in a stand-alone organization, and that conclusion is at the bottom of that page, above the footnotes, where we write:

"The total estimated cost for a similar department in a stand-alone organization would range between $621,000 and $1.491 million."


And the cost of this service, as determined in the allocation, which is found on page appendix D, page 25 in box H, is $717,000.


So the range that we came up with is the number -- the cost allocated to EGD to have this service provided is at the low end of the range that we came up with, and so we consider that this cost is reasonable for EGD to procure this service through EI.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  I would like to add that you had recommended an adjustment to the $717,000.  So the final RCAM amount was the net of the two, the 717 and the negative 36, for a net amount of 681,000, which formed part of the RCAM.


MR. BALDAUF:  Right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  In response, Mr. Chair, to your question about the dilution effect on the earnings per share, with your permission, Mr. Burke is going to provide Mr. Kishinchandani with a copy of the financial statement.


I am wondering if you could identify what the dilution effect is on earnings per share, at least from that financial statement, which is for which year, Mr. --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  That's 2006.


MR. O'LEARY:  2006, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kishinchandani, your microphone, please.


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary.  So your question is?


MR. O'LEARY:  You said it was about a cent.  I am just wondering if it states in the financial statement what the dilution effect of the options is on a...


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  In one of the notes, there is -- I need a moment here to pull that out.



MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take the break, Mr. O'Leary?  We will come back and we will start -- we can complete this and start with the next panel.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.


--- Recess taken at 2:40 p.m.  


--- On resuming at 2:55 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary.  


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 


Mr. Kishinchandani, did you have a chance to look at the financial statements and --


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes.  I wanted to make and update the change in the EPS; as opposed to a penny, it is two cents' impact.  So I just wanted to make sure, for the record, we have that updated.


MR. O'LEARY:  How many shares are outstanding?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  In terms of the number of options?


MR. O'LEARY:  How many shares of -- you're talking earnings per share, that is in respect of how many shares have been issued by Enbridge?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  340 million.  I will just confirm that.  Yes, 340 million shares that have been issued.  The diluted weighted average shares outstanding is 343 million.


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, what was the last number?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  343.3 million shares.


MR. O'LEARY:  Last question.  This goes to a question that Mr. DeRose asked you about whether or not the company could issue -- Enbridge Inc. could issue an unlimited number of shares, and it kind of reminds me of the remedy that someone suggested for the debt in Canada, and that is just print more money.


Do you have a view as to whether or not it would be prudent to just print money?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Absolutely not.  That would be very imprudent.  But theoretically -- I viewed that as a theoretical question, and that is how I answered it.  But definitely, from a practical perspective, no company worth its salt is going to issue shares left, right and centre.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That is our reply. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. O'LEARY:  Oh, well -- this isn't reply.  We can respond to several of the undertakings now.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry.  It is only 17.3, J17.3, which is -- the request was to attempt to obtain the date of introduction of a stock-option plan.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  I was able to verify at the break that a stock-option component has been part of the executive compensation at Consumers Gas/Enbridge Gas Distribution since at least 1992, so for at least 15 years, that we are aware of.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  And undertaking J17.1 related to the stock options granted to Mr. Al Monaco and Pat Daniels, I believe; do we have a response to that?


MR. KISCHINCHANDANI:  Yes, there were 16,300 options granted to Mr. Al Monaco, who is the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  That was in 2006. 


As for Mr. Pat Daniels, who is the CEO of Enbridge Inc., there were 179,100 options granted to him during 2006.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  One other housekeeping matter, sir, is you asked for copies of the decisions that we intended to refer to.  I am happy to file the ones that we have with us, at least now.  There may be another one referred to in written argument, but presently these are the two I intend to refer to.  Whether you wish to mark them or not, I am in your hands.


MR. KAISER:  Since you have them, let's give them a number.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  The first is the decision of this Board, dated March 18th, 2004 in the Union Gas proceeding RP-2003-0063.  It is not the entire decision; it is only those pages that have been reproduced, which are 71 through 91.


MR. MILLAR:  We will call that exhibit J17.4 [sic], Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. K17.4: OEB DECISION IN UNION GAS PROCEEDING RP-2003-0063


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  J?  Exhibit --


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me.  K, and I may have the numeration wrong as well.  Let me double-check.  I can't recall.  Does anyone recall if we have any Ks yet? 


MR. BURKE:  Yes, we do.  You're right.


MR. MILLAR:  I was right?  There you go. 


MR. BURKE:  17.4. 


MR. MILLAR:  K 17.4. 


MR. O'LEARY:  The second decision, Mr. Chair, is the reasons for Decision of the National Energy Board, dated September 2004, involving TransCanada Pipelines.  It is the RH-2-2004 Phase One proceeding, and again we have only produced, I believe, a segment of that decision.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be K17.5, Mr. Chair.  

EXHIBIT NO. K17.5.: NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD DECISION INVOLVING TRANSCANADA PIPELINES, SEPTEMBER 2004


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. O'LEARY:  Those are all of the housekeeping matters, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


Mr. DeRose, I think we're ready for your witness.


MR. DeROSE:  It would actually be Mr. -- I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Buonaguro will be leading Rosen & Associates.  That is the way we have split it, if that's fine with you.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If we could get Panel chairs for them.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Panel.


[Witness panel withdraws]


MR. DeROSE:  Unless you want to testify on our behalf.


MR. O'LEARY:  If you insist.


MR. BUONAGURO:  While the switch is occurring, I guess a housekeeping matter specific to the evidence of Rosen & Associates:  In the evidence, I believe it appears or has been designated as L28-1. 


There are actually two versions of that report.  There is a redacted and unredacted version.  The redacted version is the one that all of the other parties received, and was filed electronically as well as on paper.


The unredacted one: there is only one copy with the Board in a sealed envelope.  It was redacted because there are a page or two of material relating to numbers that were related to EI that we thought that EI might object to being put on the public record.


As it happens, those numbers, for the most part, were only relevant to the issues which have now been resolved by way of settlement proposal.  So we don't need, or I don't think we're going to be relying on those numbers, so just for clarification, the parties all have an unredacted -- sorry.  The parties all have received the redacted version, and that is the one that should be on the record with the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, do you have an extra copy of that?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro, what is the exhibit number for that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  L28-1, according to the settlement proposal; it is listed in the settlement proposal.  It is called "Preliminary report of Rosen & Associates Limited, May 30th, 2007".


MR. MILLAR:  We don't appear to have an extra copy here, Mr. Chair.  I don't know if any of the intervenors or the applicant has one that they can share.


It looks like Mr. DeRose has a spare.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It may be schedule 2.  Yes.  I think schedule 2 is the redacted one. 


So it will be L28, schedule 2 is the redacted version of the report, which is the one that the Board should have.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which means, to be very specific:  In the settlement proposal, the evidence reference should be changed to L28-2.  I don't know if anything turns on it, but --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we have with us today from Rosen & Associates, Mr. Alan T. Mak and Mr. Mark Noxon, who are both with Rosen & Associates, and are going to be speaking to the issues that are before the Board today.


We have already put in their resumes, at 17.3 early this morning, and both resumes, I believe, were actually appended to the original report, in any event.


The Board will have heard that the intervenors involved in the consultative retained Rosen & Associates from a short list of candidates which, as it happens, were provided to us, with gratitude, from Enbridge, to assist in providing expert opinion and advice with respect to the RCAM consultative. 


As part of that consultative, it was agreed in the statement of principles that in the event that issues -- all of them or some of them -- with respect to RCAM went to hearing, as it has happened, that the intervenors would be able to continue to retain Rosen & Associates to provide expert evidence on the issues without any concerns about independence and without any concerns about their involvement in the consultative.


Now, I can go through the -- some of the resume to have them qualified, but I think the resumes are self-explanatory.  I would like to try, at least in the first instance, to tender them as expert witnesses with respect to the issues outstanding and with respect to the evidence they put and ask if there are any objections.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, we have no objection to 

Mr. Mak and Mr. Noxon being qualified as experts.  There is no question that they have the academic credentials to speak to accounting issues, and it appears that both of these gentlemen have appeared as experts in the -- before the courts.  


The only question that it may be necessary for them to respond to is in respect of whether or not they have any particular experience in regard to a regulated energy utility and appearances before this Board or any other regulatory board.


I don't believe either of these gentlemen have any experience in that; correct, sirs?


MR. MAK:  That is correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  So it is simply a fact that you have not ever opined on a corporate cost allocation methodology in a prior regulatory proceeding; is that right?


MR. MAK:  That is correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And this would be the first time you've been involved in a cost-of-service proceeding involving a regulated utility?


MR. MAK:  Yes, it is.


MR. O'LEARY:  Simply with those acknowledgements, we're satisfied to allow them to proceed, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, let's proceed.


DR. HIGGIN:  They have not been sworn.

VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION - PANEL 1

MARK NOXON; Sworn

ALAN MAK; Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  It would appear the benchmark for examination-in-chief is at around an hour, hour and a half, but I think we can be much shorter and hopefully get out of here today.


I'd ask just briefly for Mr. Mak to provide just a very brief summary of their evidence with respect to the two issues that are outstanding before the Board.


MR. MAK:  Based upon our involvement in the consultative and our examination of the evidence as set out in our reports, it is my opinion that for the purposes of rate-making, the company EI and EGD do not incur a cost to provide stock options to its employees.  On that basis, such costs, as are currently reported in the RCAM, should not be included.


Secondly, with respect to the issue of capital markets access and investor-services costs, it is my view that those costs properly belong to EI.  They are related to the costs of raising equity for EI, which is invested by EI, some of which is invested in EGD.  But EI receives a rate of return on its investment and is therefore adequately compensated.  


Therefore, on that basis, I do not believe that the capital-markets access and investor services cost should be included in the RCAM, either.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we received, I believe it is approximately two weeks ago, reply evidence from EGD with respect to these two issues.


Accordingly, the Board hasn't heard anything from our witnesses on that new evidence, and I would just ask that they be given an opportunity to make some comments with respect to the new evidence that was put in.


MR. KAISER:  Please; go ahead.


MR. MAK:  With respect to the stock-option costs, one of the issues that has been raised is the issue of dilution.


Now, to be fair, it is recognized in our report that dilution is a potential impact, but insofar as dilution is an economic cost to EI's shareholders, it assumes that the stock option is exercised.  But at the time the options are granted, there is no cost to the company.


The dilution cost would also have to assume that something is being given away for nothing in return, the difference between the market cost and the strike price.  But as we've heard already this morning, if the stock options were effective in motivating employees to do a better job in the future, to create value, to increase the stock price, that, in my opinion, is value received by the company and by EI shareholders.  


Moreover, as has also been pointed out by the Chair, in order for the stock options to have value, the stock price must increase, and EI's shareholders would participate in the increasing price.  They're lifted by the rising tide, so to speak.


So there is a benefit being received by the shareholders from the stock options, and the difference between strike price and market price is not entirely lost or simply foregone.


Secondly, with respect to the capital-markets access costs, one issue that I take exception to is EGD's comparison or assessment of itself in a stand-alone context.  What is implicit in EGD's argument, in my view, is that it compares itself to a stand-alone public company, and so when it says that but for EI's involvement, but for EI's provision of these services, EGD would have to perform the raising of capital to raise equity capital, that assumes that EGD would be a public company.  


But the fact of the matter is EGD is a wholly owned subsidiary of EI, and, therefore, even if EI did not provide the equity-raising services or equity-access services, EGD would still not be required to raise equity.  It would have to obtain equity from EI.


Therefore, I don't believe that the comparison to a stand-alone company -- to a stand-alone public company is appropriate.  Rather, it should be to a stand-alone wholly owned subsidiary company.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And one last thing before I turn you over for cross-examination.  There was specific reference made this morning to a Rosen report dated 2004.  I wanted to give you the opportunity to comment on the excerpt that was mentioned this morning.


MR. MAK:  Yes.  The reference was to a report that was written by Dr. Rosen in 2004 as part of a report that was issued to private subscribers.  It was also summarized in an article in the Post, I believe.  


The context to that article needs to be understood.  Firstly, that article was written in the context of financial reporting and accounting.  And as the Chair has already pointed out, financial reporting is concerned with reporting to investors and shareholders, and it does recognize that even though it is not a cost incurred by the company - stock option costs are not incurred by EI, for example - they are a dilution cost potentially to the shareholders.


For many reasons, GAAP, generally accepted accounting principles, has required those costs to be included in financial statements.


And the context of all of this back in 2003, which is when the rules first came in -- the accounting rules first came in is that at the end of the 1990s and early 2000s, there were many dot-com companies that were raising a lot of equity, but they didn't have a lot of cash, didn't have a lot of revenues.  So stock options was one form to compensate its employees, the problem being that stock options were being used to substitute salary and so was displacing salary.  


And insofar as the stock options were not being reported anywhere, then arguably the salary compensation was being understated.


So that was the context in which these rules came about.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I can turn the panel over for cross-examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary


MR. O'LEARY:  Before I get into my cross, I just had one question that arises out of your evidence-in-chief, Mr. Mak.  I guess I am just a little confused and maybe you can help me on this.  You understand that the process that we're here involved in is the determination of the appropriate allocation to Enbridge Gas Distribution for the services that are undertaken by Enbridge Inc. on its behalf?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  You understand that the Board has determined a number of years ago that there should be a three-prong test applied to determine the way 

-- the amount and the allocators and ultimately the benefits to the ratepayers, that's the test that should be applied, the three-prong test?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  You do understand that part of the third-prong test is to compare the value of the service, the amount that is proposed to be allocated to the utility, to compare that with a stand-alone company?


MR. MAK:  Yes, but if I may explain myself, that is the cost-benefit test, which presumes that the cost is incurred in the first place.


What we are taking issue with is the first prong, cost incurrence, whether costs are legitimately incurred by the entity, EI or EGD, with respect to stock options and with respect to capital markets costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm just trying to understand, if I have my notes correctly, you said that it's improper, or you don't think it is appropriate, to look at Enbridge Gas Distribution as a stand-alone public issuer.  Instead it should be compared to a subsidiary of a public company. 


I'm suggesting to you that you couldn't complete the third prong unless you looked at Enbridge Gas Distribution as a public issuer, to determine if the amount being allocated is actually a benefit to ratepayers.  Right?


MR. MAK:  I don't agree with that.


The distinction here is with respect to being a stand-alone company, whether that stand-alone company is a public company or wholly owned private company.  I believe that the comparison can be made to a wholly owned private company, without that next step of assuming that it is being public.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I understand your answer, you're saying it is the first prong that you're questioning, which is the need for the service in the first place.  Right?


MR. MAK:  Whether costs are incurred in the first place.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let's start with capital markets.  Shall we start there?


In terms of whether the cost is incurred, do you have a question as to whether or not Enbridge Inc. is actually 

-- their treasury department is performing the activities that are set out in the RCAM study?


MR. MAK:  No, I do not.


MR. O'LEARY:  So it is not the number that's in issue here.  It is whether or not it should be something that is recovered in rates; right?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So then let's get the issue of need, and ask you, first of all:  Would you agree that, as a regulated entity -- and, in fact, ratepayers -- that looking at historically what the Board has permitted a utility to recover in respect of the activities that are undertaken, those that are expensed, that that should provide both the company and ratepayers some comfort as to what they can expect to recover in the future?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if there is an overhead cost, salaries and other related expenses for an activity that a regulated utility incurs, and they bring them before the Board, the Board considers those activities, and rules that they are properly recoverable, that you would expect, unless there is something that has changed significantly, that you would be entitled to recover those in future years.  Is that fair?


MR. MAK:  That would be fair.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Now, I notice attached to your report at L28, schedule 2, at appendix A, you list all of the documents that you reviewed for the purposes of your report.  Is that fair to say?


MR. MAK:  Yes.  Appendix A.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Take a moment if you need it, but I didn't see in there any indication that you had reviewed the decision and approval of the Board in respect of Enbridge's -- at that time Consumers Gas' -- application to centralize its treasury function in Calgary.  Is it fair to say you didn't, and weren't aware of that decision when you wrote your report?


MR. MAK:  I was not aware of that decision at the time of the report.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if we go to that, and I take you to tab 2 of Exhibit K17.1.  If I could turn you to appendix 1, which is at page 11.  Those are the treasury services to Consumers Gas which, according to that application which the Board approved, were being transferred -- centralized -- to Calgary; would you agree with me that some of these services are in fact the services that are now being performed by Enbridge Inc.?


MR. MAK:  It appears so.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you accept that the Board considered this application and approved the move to Calgary?


MR. MAK:  I believe that the Board did, which is at page 17.


MR. O'LEARY:  Correct.  Do you note at the bottom that the Board not only approved it, but it accepted the undertaking by Consumers Gas to only charge the avoided costs in respect to those activities for the next three years?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  So in effect, the Board is approving for three years the recovery of the costs relating to equity financing; correct?


MR. MAK:  At that time.


MR. O'LEARY:  At that time.  All right.


So are you aware that since that time, the costs relating to such activities have been brought forward for recovery in subsequent proceeding?


MR. MAK:  Sorry, could you rephrase the question?


MR. O'LEARY:  Since the centralization out to Calgary, are you aware that, through the corporate cost-allocation methodology in prior cases, they have -- the company has brought forward an amount to be recovered in rates, and that, in fact, there has been some recovery in rates in prior years?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  If I could turn you to tab 3 of K17.1, which is the evidence of Mr. Brad Boyle in last year's rate case.  I didn't intend to take you to this, but do you have any reason to doubt Mr. Boyle's testimony that in fact the activities which he undertook here in Toronto back in the mid-1990s are now being undertaken out in Calgary?


MR. MAK:  No, I don't have any reason to doubt his evidence.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Hoey confirmed in his response to some cross-examination questions, that in Ontario, Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc. are required to maintain a certain degree of equity capital.  Are you aware of that obligation?


MR. MAK:  Yes, I am.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is now 36 percent?


MR. MAK:  So I am told.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if Enbridge Gas Distribution was a stand-alone issuer, would you accept as a matter of fact that it would be required to maintain a level of equity capital in and around that amount?


MR. MAK:  If I may ask for clarification.  What do you mean by stand-alone issuer?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, if Enbridge Inc. wasn't around and Enbridge Gas Distribution was a stand-alone public issuer, would you agree that, given both the undertakings and the deemed equity debt structure, it would be required to go out and obtain equity capital in and around that rate?


MR. MAK:  If it is assumed that EGD were a public company, without EI, then yes, it would have to obtain its own equity capital. 


But that is something that is interesting.  The approval that you brought my attention to at tab 2, I note they're dated in late 1995.  My understanding is that, in 1995, Enbridge Gas Distribution was still partially publicly owned; I believe 15 percent. 


It was in December 1996 that Enbridge Inc. purchased the remaining 15 percent of the outstanding shares and then became wholly owned.


So that is, I think, in my opinion, a material difference between 1995 and today.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Has the obligation upon Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas Distribution to ensure there is a sufficient degree of equity capital in this gas utility, changed?


MR. MAK:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  No.  All right.  And so you're saying by the mere fact that the majority owner becomes the sole owner, that that is a material change, and that the costs that were recovered in rates before should no longer be recovered.  Is that your position?


MR. MAK:  That's right.  It is the nature of the costs that is material, that is relevant.  And the nature of the costs, in my opinion, is such that these are costs that are borne by investors to raise capital for its own account. 


The investor vests those funds into EGD, and receives a rate of return that is approved by the Board.


MR. O'LEARY:  Let me come back to the stand-alone example.  If Enbridge Gas Distribution is the public 

issuer --


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  -- and you have accepted that they performed the equity-financing activities themselves before and it was transferred out to Calgary, but that -- let's assume that didn't happen.  And the Board has approved the recovery of these costs in the past, because in part, the company must maintain 35 or 36 percent equity capital. 


Are you saying that simply by the fact that it is transferred out to Calgary, that that is no longer a recoverable amount?


MR. MAK:  Not by virtue of fact it is transferred out to Calgary, by virtue of the fact it is wholly owned by EI.


MR. O'LEARY:  If the work was undertaken by an independent third party, would that be recoverable in rates?


MR. MAK:  On whose behalf?


MR. O'LEARY:  On behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. MAK:  If they were to raise capital, equity capital, on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, it would be recoverable.


MR. O'LEARY:  I am asking the activities associated with attracting and maintaining equity capital.  Perhaps we're at a chasm here.


Are we talking about -- and you understand we're talking about the activities that a company undertakes to massage the market, and make sure they're aware of your activities, and to maintain your presence in the equity markets; they are the internal activities at a company.  Right?


MR. MAK:  Right.


MR. O'LEARY:  That's what was happening at Enbridge Gas Distribution back in the mid-19990s?


MR. MAK:  Right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  They could have outsourced that, if it was appropriate, but they could have -- let's think hypothetically.  If they had outsourced that to an independent third party, and the Board found that the charges of the third party were reasonable for those activities, you would, I presume, agree that they should be recovered in rates.


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Instead, Consumers Gas came forward and asked for the Board's approval to outsource these activities to its parent, to consolidate it, perhaps to save money for ratepayers, so that the activities would not be as costly as before. 


The Board approved that, and allowed recovery in rates over the years; correct?


MR. MAK:  Yes.  But again, at that time, Enbridge Gas Distribution was still obligated to maintain its own public presence.  It was still 15 percent owned by the public.  That is a material difference.


MR. O'LEARY:  If a utility -- you understand what a cost-of-service application is?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  You understand that the purpose is for the company to come forward with its reasonable forecasts of its expenses and depreciation and that it can, therefore, look forward to recovery of those reasonable costs; correct?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  If one of the regulatory requirements is for that utility to maintain a level of equity capital of 36 percent, would you not expect, as the utility, that it would be entitled to recover the costs associated with maintaining that level of equity capital?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And if they do it themselves, or they do it through a third party or they do it through the parent, what's the difference?


MR. MAK:  The difference is, in this case, Enbridge Inc. provides those services for its own account.  It raises equity.  It raises debt.  It incurs the costs to do so.


But in investing those funds, it earns a return as an investor from EGD.  So those services are not being performed for EGD per se.  In my opinion, they're being performed for EI on its own account as an investor for its own benefit.


MR. O'LEARY:  Have you reviewed the most recent prospectus that EI issued in respect of the most recent financing?


MR. MAK:  No, I haven't.


MR. O'LEARY:  You didn't?  You wouldn't have thought that would be appropriate to come to the conclusion that you did, so you would be able to answer the Chair's question about whether or not they do, in fact, refer to the gas utility in the prospectus?


MR. MAK:  No, I did not in preparing for this.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Are you saying, Mr. Mak, that the Board in the past, when it has approved recovery for the services that are required so that Enbridge Gas can maintain its undertaking and the deemed equity it is required to have, that the Board has been wrong in the past?


MR. MAK:  I'm not sure that the Board has decided on the specific issue.  I am here to offer my opinion based on what I was retained to do this past year.


MR. O'LEARY:  Just one other area of clarity.  From both your evidence-in-chief and I think from your report, you seem to indicate that you believe that the costs associated with equity finance are recovered through the EI or the return that is paid to EI.  Do I understand you correctly?


MR. MAK:  I believe that EI earns a full and fair rate of return, based on the rate that is approved by the Board.  That is, its return as an investor.  And implicit in that return, it must cover its own costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  Did you review the ROE guidelines which have been approved by the Board?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Does it say anywhere in that document that any of the internal costs of the O&M overhead, the salaries, will be calculated for the purposes of determining the return on equity?


MR. MAK:  No, it does not.  Simply the objective is to provide a fair and just return, I believe.


MR. O'LEARY:  For the use of capital based upon the risk premium; correct?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is not intended to recover the O&M costs of EI, is it?


MR. MAK:  No, it is not.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  There is some suggestion in your evidence, referring to a previous decision, about the flotation cost.  Would you agree that a flotation cost or allowance, which is the means of adjusting the ROE to reflect external issuance costs, that that, as well, does not purport to recover any costs which are internal to the issuing company?


MR. MAK:  That's right.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So in terms of the ROE, there is nothing in the consideration of that which would provide for a recovery to EI or EGD for the costs associated in raising the equity capital that EGD is required, as a matter of law, to have; do you agree?


MR. MAK:  I agree.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


Sorry, just one last question.  If I could turn you to page 35 of your report, which is K28.2, at page 35.  It is just a continuation of our discussion.  It may not be necessary, but if you go to the very last paragraph, you have included in the second-last sentence -- and I say "you", but it might be Mr. Noxon, I don't want to take the light off yourself.  But it reads:

"If deemed logical to a rate regulator, the return on equity investment could be increased to compensate for equity maintenance costs."


So that suggests to me that the author of this report doesn't believe that, in fact, there is any return, any recovery of equity maintenance costs in the ROE, which is what you just said; right?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Then you footnoted it at 26, and you say:

"We understand that the intervenors have argued that the current return on equity allowed to EGD for rate-setting purposes already includes a capital maintenance component."


Am I correct in understanding that you didn't agree with your clients, that they viewed it differently than you did?


MR. MAK:  They do have a slightly different view.  They believe that flotation costs are included, as well as the capital maintenance component.


MR. O'LEARY:  But you're the expert here today; right?


MR. MAK:  Our view is that the rate of return, if it is to provide a fair and just return and arm's-length rate of return, is in itself adequate.


MR. O'LEARY:  Why don't we turn to stock-based compensation.  I may be a bit disjointed here, because there have been a number of things that I think have been accepted that I won't need to go into, but please bear with me.


If I understood both your evidence and your counsel's comments, correct me if I'm wrong, but I trust that you'll accept that the retention of key employees is an important consideration for any company, including a gas utility?


MR. MAK:  Yes, we do.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  You have talked about the dilution effect, and we have heard what you said about, if the share goes up, the shareholders benefit.  If it goes down, they lose, et cetera.  But you accept that there is, in fact, a dilution effect with the issuance of options and shares?


MR. MAK:  There is a dilution effect with the issuance of shares when the options are exercised, but not with the issuance of options.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But with a stock-option plan which has been ongoing for a number of years, you wouldn't be surprised by the fact that Enbridge Inc. every year is, in fact, bringing forward its dilution for the options that have been issued over the previous years; right?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is an ongoing annual expense; correct?


MR. MAK:  I'm sorry, perhaps I'm being essentially technical here, but what do you mean by "expense"?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it is in the financial statements.  It has to be something.


MR. MAK:  It is an accounting expense required by accounting principles, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And, therefore, anybody who reads that financial statement, they will view it as a negative impact in their earnings per share, and where I went to school, that is an expense.


MR. MAK:  That is one interpretation.  Other analysts may actually add back the expense, because they realize it is a non-cash cost.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, all right.  Then you also, I think, through your counsel, agreed to the impact on the company's treasury in that, and we're getting to the difference between the grant price and the exercise price.  So if the grant price is 25 and the exercise is 35, there is this opportunity cost, I will call it, of ten dollars, and Mr. Kishinchandani spoke about this opportunity cost, as well.


If I understand your counsel correctly, you accept that that is something that does occur?


MR. MAK:  Well, no, we don't.  That cost presumes a number of factors, such as those pointed out by Mr. DeRose, the fact that those shares could have been issued to the employee at full price; that there was a constraint to otherwise limiting -- sorry, there was constraint to otherwise issuing other shares for full price.  If those assumptions are not true, then that would not exist; that cost would not exist.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, if the share had been sold publicly, the treasury would have recovered $35; whereas, in this instance, it is getting the grant price, $25.  Thirty-five minus 25 equals ten dollars, does it not?


MR. MAK:  If that specific share could have been sold at 35, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you're not suggesting that a public company is going to just issue shares ad nauseam.  They realize that there is an impact on share value and the credibility of the company, and that that is a reasonable assumption, that you're just not going to go out and issue shares without good reason?


MR. MAK:  That's right.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So then the concept of an opportunity cost -- recognizing that there are good and valuable business constraints on a company's ability to issue shares, the concept of an opportunity cost is not far fetched.  It is very real, isn't it?


MR. MAK:  Well, it may well be real, but I have not seen any evidence to prove that those constraints do exist.  I mean, theoretically they do, but I have not seen any evidence from the company to suggest that they cannot in fact issue more shares.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So boiled down to your position, I understand that you're not taking the view that there is no ratepayer benefits from stock options; right?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  You're not taking the view that they are not viewed as important parts of the compensation package by employees; correct?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  So your view is that because there is no cash outlay, there should be no recovery?  


MR. MAK:  There is no cash outlay.  Nor is there an economic cost in EI, to issue stock options.  


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And I notice that your counsel produced two decisions, and I'm wondering if you could point out where in those decisions or any other regulatory precedent, that a regulated utility has been bound by a principle which has been upheld by a regulator, to the effect that if there is no cash outlay, that that is not recoverable in rates.


MR. MAK:  Well, I believe the NOVA decision speaks to that, at least my understanding of the NOVA decision.  Give me a moment.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have that decision, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is part of K17.2, sir.


MR. MAK:  With respect to the NOVA decision, page 10; this is tab 3 of K17.2.


At the bottom of page 10, it sets out the views of the board; this is the Alberta Energy Utilities Board.  Carrying on to page 11, in the first line, about two third of the way through:

"Compensation that may or may not be paid should not be fully treated as an expense in revenue requirement."


 MR. O'LEARY:  But it doesn't say that if there is no cash outlay, that that is the principle.  In this instance, if the board is satisfied that there is insufficient evidence to support that the stock options will ever be granted, then that is all this decision is saying; isn't it?


MR. MAK:  Well, my interpretation is the word "paid" involves some kind of economic outlay, cash or otherwise.


MR. O'LEARY:  Isn't this board concerned about the fact that, if you've got a company that does not, in fact, have a formal stock-option plan, where there will be stock options granted based on performance, that they will just use this as a means of bumping up the return?


It doesn't say that there is a principle of no cash outlay, therefore no recovery.  Correct?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Mak, Ms. Haberbusch suggested to you, or gave evidence this morning following, in fact, a question asked by the Chair about whether or not she held stock options.  She talked about both the importance to her and the importance to other executives that she has dealt with.  That's not surprising to you, is it?


MR. MAK:  No, it is not.


MR. O'LEARY:  No.  In fact, if this Board was to rule that stock options were no longer something that -- valued under the Black-Scholes methodology, which you agree with; correct?  You don't have difficulty with that?


MR. MAK:  No, I don't.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  That if recovery based upon the Black-Scholes methodology is no longer allowed, and EI was to say:  "Well, we're not going to grant options any longer", would you be surprised if the employees of Enbridge Gas Distribution, its executives and management, would then seek an equivalent level of compensation or more, by means of a cash outlay?


MR. MAK:  That would be from the employees' perspective, but, again, I want to emphasize that from the employees' perspective it is value that matters.  So if they don't receive value from stock options, they would expect value from performance stock units or cash.  


What we're talking about here, though, is cost to the company.  My understanding is it is a corporate cost allocation model, not a value attribution model.  So on that basis, my opinion is there is no cost incurred.


Now, if the company chooses to find an alternate means to compensate employees such that a cost, a full cost, is recoverable from ratepayers, that is their prerogative, I suppose.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So, for example, if stock options are eliminated and we had restricted units and performance stock units -- which you have admitted, because there is a cash outlay, those are recoverable in rates -- then you're saying that the adjustment in the compensation package, to eliminate options but to bump these two up, would be fully recoverable in rates.  Correct?


MR. MAK:  Correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And is it your position, and that of the intervenors, that that is the preferred world, that in fact you do not want stock options?  That you would prefer to have employees paid entirely in cash?


MR. MAK:  Not at all.  Not at all.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. MAK:  We view stock options as being valuable, as being effective compensation tools.  We are not, by any means, suggesting they be replaced with cash modes of compensation.


It is simply that in using stock options, the company does not incur a cost, and insofar as a cost is not incurred, that benefit should be shared with the ratepayers.


MR. O'LEARY:  But you're a prudent manager, let's assume, of a company.  You're no longer recovering the value from -- you consider it the cost of the stock options you granted to the senior members of your utility, your subsidiary utility.  Would you be surprised if the management says:  Well, that's it, why would we continue with this?  Let's just do it straight as a cash outlay, and there will be no issue about it. 


That is simply going to increase the O&M in the next rate proceeding, is it not?


MR. MAK:  With respect to being a manager for the utility, that might be a reasonable response.  But from a ratemaking perspective, that would seem unreasonable to me, because stock options are a viable, low-cost, if not no-cost, means of compensation.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let me ask you about that.  That's in fact where I was going to lead you, because on the one hand you're telling me now that in your view it is important to keep the stock options around.  All right?


What happens if an intervenor came forward in the next cost-of-service proceeding -- or perhaps you might even suggest it today, I don't know -- and proposed that all of the employees of Enbridge Gas Distribution be paid 40 percent through stock options and 60 percent through cash and the other means of compensation that you say are recoverable.  Is that a good idea?


MR. MAK:  For whom?


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, is it a good idea?  Is it in the public interest, first of all?


MR. MAK:  You mean the ratepayers?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. MAK:  I'm not sure I understand the question.


MR. O'LEARY:  Let's just think this through.


You're saying that the stock options, which are granted currently, should not be -- there should be no recovery in rates for those stock options; correct?


MR. MAK:  Right.


MR. O'LEARY:  We understand it makes up a percentage of the executives' compensation package for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Correct?  


MR. MAK:  Correct. 


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Let's hypothetically say you were here today to propose to the Board that that percentage of their compensation package made up of stock options should be increased to 40 percent.  Do you think that is a good thing?  


MR. MAK:  From the employees' perspective, it may be a good thing, in the sense that if their compensation levels are still the same, there might be preferred tax consequences to increasing the share compensation.


From a ratemaking perspective, then, if we carry out the logic that stock option costs are not recoverable in rates, that would reduce the rates charged to ratepayers.  That would be a good thing as well.


MR. O'LEARY:  Correct.  Sure.  You have just reduced the salary expenses, which the regulated utility is going to be allowed to come forward to recover from the Board.  Right?


MR. MAK:  Right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Why not make it 90 percent, and pay everybody 10 percent cash? 


Then wouldn't it be fair to say that gas distribution would be received by ratepayers for next to nothing?


MR. MAK:  Well, then we get back to the situation of the dot-coms, replacing salary with stock compensation.


MR. O'LEARY:  Why wouldn't you propose 90 percent stock options and 10 percent cash?


MR. MAK:  I'm not sure if the employees would agree to that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Just from a ratemaking perspective, would you consider that a reasonable suggestion?


MR. MAK:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Would you consider it a just suggestion?


MR. MAK:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mak, I have a question for you.  You may not be able to answer this.


The question is: does the answer to this question depend on the ratemaking scheme, whether it is cost of service or whether it is incentive ratemaking? 


Let my give you an example.  Let's suppose that the Black-Scholes model accurately measures the cost of stock options.  Let's suppose, secondly, that the stock options cause employees to work harder, and the company becomes more productive, which I presume is the theory.


As a result, the company might become more efficient, which would mean costs would go down, which may mean that rates would go down.  But the company might also become more profitable.  Profits belong to the shareholder.    Typically, the ratepayers don't participate in the profits.


But in incentive rate-making, if the profits go up beyond whatever the formula is, the shareholders get to keep it.  So let's suppose all of these things happen and profits go up, and we can attribute it to the fact that we put in this incentive plan involving stock options.


In that scenario, is there an argument that some of the costs of this plan, which we have identified, should be borne by the shareholder because the shareholder would benefit?


MR. MAK:  I would tend to agree.  At the moment, if we're allocating all of the stock-option plans to the ratepayers, then I believe that is an asymmetrical allocation, because, as you point out, the residual profits of the company go to the shareholders.  


So it is not simply the ratepayers benefit by virtue of cost efficiencies; the shareholders also benefit from profitability.


So it would seem more appropriate that there is at least a sharing of stock-option costs.


MR. KAISER:  Well, there might be a difference, because if the company gets an allowed rate of return, that's all it gets. 


MR. MAK:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Under the current scheme.  So, arguably, any reduction in costs or any benefit might actually flow back to the ratepayer.  But in incentive regulatory scheme, the additional profits, if I can call them that, might go to the shareholder in that type of regulatory scheme.  Do you agree with that?


MR. MAK:  I would agree.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Mak, you're not in a position, and you didn't file any evidence, but just confirm you are not in a position to give any opinion as to whether or not the value to ratepayers exceeds the allocation that is proposed for stock-based compensation?


MR. MAK:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. Mak, just a couple of little questions.


At exhibit -- this is the MNP report, Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule 1.  At Exhibit E is a copy of the Intercorporate Services Agreement, which is appendix E to that report.


I note from -- go ahead.  Please, pull it up.


MR. MAK:  Go ahead.


MR. O'LEARY:  In your report at appendix A, you indicate that you reviewed the Intercorporate Services Agreement and the schedule to it as part of your assignment; correct?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I notice you didn't opine anywhere in your report anything to the effect that the schedule, which is the regulatory cost allocation methodology revised in September 2006, you did not opine that any portion of section 2, which is the methodologies, design objectives and principles, were incorrect.  Is that fair to say?


MR. MAK:  That's fair.


MR. O'LEARY:  Indeed, if we look at 2.1, the title of that subsection is "Regulatory Design Principles".


So is it fair to say that you, therefore, accept all of the interpretations that appear there in respect of regulatory-design principles?


MR. MAK:  If you will give me a moment, I would like to refresh my memory of this.


Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And that includes the definition of just and reasonable; correct?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right, thank you.  Just one last little question.  I just want to see if this works, if you would accept it as a fair analogy.  If instead of granting stock options Enbridge Inc. was instead to go out to the market and sell the options on the open market and earn revenues on those options, and it then paid the employees the revenues that it gained on those options, would you agree that that amount would be recoverable?


MR. MAK:  We wouldn't earn revenues from selling options.  That would be a capital transaction.  It would be in addition to their equity accounts, the funds which could be used to pay employees and incur an expense, which then would be included in O&M costs, I assume.


MR. O'LEARY:  The funds that are recovered on the sale of the options could then be used to pay employee expenses; correct?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And that would be recoverable in rates?


MR. MAK:  Yes.  But under the stock-option scheme, as we pointed out this morning, what's happening is the employee effectively gets the same amount at the end of the day, but that amount is being paid by a third-party external investor of the market, bypassing the company altogether.


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm sorry, I'm just trying to understand.  How is it any different if the company goes out and it sells the options in the market, and takes the funds from those sales and pays its employees and recovers that in rates?  Why is that any different than doing it directly and granting the stock options to the employees?  Don't you think, as a practical matter, they're the same thing?


MR. MAK:  Well, simply, it is not the same thing.  As I said, it is the company going out, raising capital, taking that money and paying the employees, versus the company giving the employee this option, which the employee goes out, sells his shares and receives money.  The money doesn't go through the company.  The money is being paid by someone else in the stock-option scheme.


MR. O'LEARY:  We'll just have to continue to disagree on that point, Mr. Chair.


Those are our cross-examination questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have anything?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have one short area of redirect.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, I assume you have no questions.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, I just have one very short clarification question.  Maybe it is appropriate I just ask it first.  It just relates to the capital market financing and access costs.  Again, I think it is purely by way of clarification.


MNP has recommended in its report that Enbridge recover approximately $681,000 for this service.  And I take it you agree with -- pardon me, disagree with that recovery.


Just to confirm, in your view, should the amount that EGD recovers be zero, or something between zero and $681,000?


MR. MAK:  Well, we don't take exception -- we do not take exception to the costs relating to debt capital.  It is the equity capital.


And as was raised by EGD's panel, the distinction is not available, is not easy or is not clear.  So we're not, unfortunately, in a position to identify a number for you.  But in my view, it would be something between zero and $681,000 for capital markets cost, plus the same share, I suppose, of the investor services costs.


MR. MILLAR:  If you can't do this, that's fine, but can you give a guess if it is somewhere half the amount, three-quarters, one-quarter?


MR. MAK:  Well, this is entirely speculation, but let's assume for the moment that Mr. Kishinchandani evidenced that equity and debt is equally important, equally valuable.  Then perhaps it is 50-50.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, just to confirm, it is not your view necessarily that EI, again, isn't entitled to any compensation for this, but it is your view they actually are compensated for this already through the ROE?  Is that an accurate reflection of your position?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.  They are compensated as an investor through the ROE.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  


Those are my questions.

Re-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just one short area of re-direct.


Mr. O'Leary took you through a series of examples of what might happen or what might be proposed in terms of changing the salary/stock-option mix in their compensation expenses.


For example, he mentioned, or at least it was intimated that if the Board were to not allow recovery of anything related to stock option expenses, that the company may seek alternatives in terms of -- I don't know if stuffing is the right word, but putting costs into pure salary.


At the opposite end, it was suggested to you what would happen or would it be a good idea, if there is no cost for stock option expenses, to go to a 90 percent stock option expense compensation scheme and 10 percent salary.


I presume that when you are looking at a mix of cash salary and stock-option expense, you look at -- you would look at the market to see what other companies are doing; right?


MR. MAK:  [Nods head.]


MR. BUONAGURO:  So lots of companies have compensation that is a mix of stock-option expense and salary; is that right?


MR. MAK:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When the company comes forward to have its O&M expenses approved by the Board, the Board is charged with the task of determining if those costs were prudent.  Is that your understanding?


MR. MAK:  That's my understanding.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So, in the context of a marketplace where there is -- at least arguably, certainly in your opinion -- a free or nearly free option of supplementing cash compensation with stock-option compensation to employees, do you think that the Board might question the prudence of the company changing its mix of salary and stock-option compensation, simply because they're not recovering anything from the Board, because the Board has already determined there is no cost?


MR. MAK:  I think that would be a fair question by the Board.


MR. BUONAGURO:  In the same way that the Board would question the prudence of giving away, foregoing cash salary altogether and giving 100 percent stock expense – or stock options to its employees?


MR. MAK:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mak, I just have one question.

Questions from the Board


MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose I'm Teachers, and I decide to buy a company, say BCE, and I am going to earn a rate of return on equity on my investment.


I've got a cost of raising capital for my investments.  I may get the money from teachers.  I may get the money from the bank, but anyway, I have a cost relating to raising the capital that I make, that I subsequently invest in these entities.


My cost of raising this capital is X, whatever it is.  X doesn't have anything to do with the rate of return I'm going to get from Bell, from BCE, does it?


MR. MAK:  Well, no, sir.  But X would be a consideration of whether you make that investment.  When you're performing your capital-investment analysis, you would look at your cost of capital, that X --


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. MAK:  -- and Then consider whether the return from BCE will exceed X.  If not, you would not make the investment.


The implication being, the return from BCE is more than your cost of capital and therefore it is a good investment.  You will make money from that investment.


MR. KAISER:  I realize that whether my investment is profitable or not is going to depend upon all of my costs, including raising the capital.


But the costs that I incur in raising capital to make investments isn't going to influence that ROE in any shape or form.


MR. MAK:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I just follow that up, Mr. Chair?


MR. QUESNELLE:  I didn't understand your response to Mr. Millar then.  It seemed to -- I'm not following this earlier, in response to Mr. O'Leary, when he brought you to your report, page 35 of the Exhibit K28, in which you suggested that the ROE does not cover the cost of raising the capital.  Is that correct?  Or --


MR. MAK:  Not quite, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. MAK:  My opinion is ROE does not explicitly include the cost of capital of the investor.  It is implicit, in my opinion, that the cost of capital or the costs of investment of the investor are covered by the return. 


Pardon me.  I'm not explaining myself clearly.  But those costs -- if I were to go out and borrow money to solicit equity, private equity to invest in another company -- the costs of solicitation are my own.  I then go out, invest those funds and earn a return, as the Chair has pointed out.  And as I said, the return that I earn my investments would have to cover the costs of solicitation and all of my other costs.  But again, the point is those are my costs as an investor.


To respond to Mr. Millar, that was my same point.  The costs of EI as an investor are covered through the return, the ROE as approved by the Board.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And though it's not part of the mechanism, you're saying that it is a consideration of the investor, looking at the return, to go out and make the investment?


MR. MAK:  That's right.  It is implicit in the objectives of setting the ROE, being a fair, just rate of return comparable to similar companies in an unregulated environment.  All of those factors tell me that it's a fair-market-value rate of return.


If EI is earning a fair rate of return or fair-market-value rate of return, then it is adequately compensated as an investor.


MR. KAISER:  We're not talking here about whether it is a good investment or bad investment.


If we had a stand-alone utility, it would have those costs, and those costs would be costs for ratemaking purposes.  That is to say, they would be borne by the ratepayers.  Right?


MR. MAK:  If the presumption is that it were a stand-alone issuer.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Let's say it was a stand-alone utility, and like most utilities, it has to raise capital.


MR. MAK:  Right. 


MR. KAISER:  It would have those costs?  


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Those costs would be in rates?


MR. MAK:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So along comes somebody and they buy this utility, and they say:  You know what, we can raise the capital in Calgary.  You don't need that cost in the utility, but we will charge you back maybe less.  So now that cost is not in rates.  It's in the parent company.


So we have, under your scenario, transferred that cost entirely from the ratepayer to the shareholder of the parent company.  What's the logic of that?


MR. MAK:  The logic of that, sir, would be in the fact -- circumstances that exist.  


Another way to look at it would be:  If EGD were a stand-alone issuer, then it would solicit capital from the public markets.  Those costs would be included in O&M costs.  But what we're talking about now is asking the Board for permission to recover the costs of EGD's investors, the next step up.


I agree that that may sound troublesome to you, but what we haven't talked about so far, yet, is EGD -- in the context of EI -- also incurs costs as a subsidiary. 


Throughout my involvement with this project, I've heard about EGD's participation in various EI councils, conforming with EI reporting requirements.  Those sorts of costs would not have been incurred if EGD were a stand-alone entity. 


MR. KAISER:  But this is an entirely separate argument.  This has nothing to do with the cost of capital, of raising capital. 


MR. MAK:  Fair enough.


MR. KAISER:  It says there are costs of being a wholly owned subsidiary that are not being taken into account.


MR. MAK:  Fair enough.  But my point is simply --


MR. KAISER:  Is this novel argument anywhere in your paper?


MR. MAK:  No, but my point is simply that EGD is asking for -- or EI is asking for these costs to raise public capital, but it also incurs these private subsidiary costs at the same time.


So they're having the best of both worlds, so to speak.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


Anything further, Mr. Buonaguro?  Mr. O'Leary?  

Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  No, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 


Ladies and gentlemen --


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  After I say "nothing" -- 


MR. O'LEARY:  I think he was going to say the same thing as I was.


MR. DeROSE:  I was just going to talk about the written argument.  We talked about it in passing this morning.


I take it -- 


MR. KAISER:  What's an agreeable schedule, gentlemen?


MR. O'LEARY:  We actually haven't talked about the schedule in specific details, but I would think in a matter of five minutes, we would be able to present one to you.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take a short break and if you would check with counsel and -- we're in your hands, whatever suits your convenience.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 4:10 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 4:18 p.m.

Procedural matters


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary, do we have an agreement?


MR. O'LEARY:  We do, Mr. Chair.  The company will file its argument-in-chief on or before Friday, October 5th, and then the intervenors will file their argument on -- is it Monday, October 15th?


MR. DeROSE:  Correct, if that is acceptable to the Board.


MR. O'LEARY:  Then if there is any reply argument, the company will file that by October 19th, which is the Friday of the same week.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Anything else?


MR. O'LEARY:  No, sir.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:19 p.m.
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